
 

 

 

Americans with Disabilities Act – Reasonable Accommodations Provided Upon Request (360-886-5700) 

 

   

 

 CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND 
               October 6, 2016 Regular Business Meeting Agenda  

 25510 Lawson St., Black Diamond, Washington 

 

 
7:00 P.M. – CALL TO ORDER, FLAG SALUTE, ROLL CALL 
 
APPOINTMENTS, ANNOUNCEMENTS, PROCLAMATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS:  

1) Presentation – Fire Department         Chief Smith 

CONSENT AGENDA: 

2) Claim Checks – October 6, 2016 - No. 43927 through No. 43991 and EFTs in the amount of $297,565.40 
3) Payroll – August 31, 2016 – No. 19178, No. 19194 through No. 19206 (voids, 18829) and EFTs in the 

amount of $292,470.16 

4) Minutes – Council/Planning Commission Joint Meeting of July 12, 2016, and Council Special Meeting of 
September 8, 2016  
 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:  Persons wishing to address the City Council regarding items of new business are encouraged to do so at this time.  

When recognized by the Mayor, please come to the podium and clearly state your name.  Please limit your comments to 3 minutes.  If you desire a 
formal agenda placement, please contact the City Clerk at 360-886-5700.  Thank you for attending. 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS:   

5) AB16-058 – Proposed Ordinance Adopting 2012 Stormwater Manual for Western Washington Mr. Boettcher 
(Council action may follow public hearing) 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS:   

6) Minutes – Council meetings of  July 21, 2016, August 18, 2016, August 23, 2016, August 25, 2016, 

 and September 1, 2016 

7) AB16-049A – Resolution Authorizing an Agreement with Parametrix, Inc. -Surveying Svc. – MDRT  Mr. Williamson 

8) AB16-050A – Resolution Authorizing an Agreement with Parametrix, Inc. -Traffic Eng. Svc. - MDRT Mr. Williamson 

9) AB16-051A – Resolution Authorizing an Agreement with RH2 - Civil – MDRT    Mr. Williamson 

10) AB16-052A – Resolution Authorizing an Agreement with Perteet –Environment- MDRT  Mr. Williamson 

11) AB16-053A – Resolution Authorizing an Agreement with HWA Geosciences – MDRT   Mr. Williamson 

12) AB16-057A – Resolution Regarding Enumclaw School District Mitigation Plan  Councilmember Pepper 

NEW BUSINESS: 

13) AB16-059 – Resolution Adopting the 2017-2022 Capital Improvement Plan                Mr. Boettcher 

14) AB16-060 – Resolution Authorizing an Agreement with RH2 for On-Call Services                         Mr. Boettcher 



 

 

 

Americans with Disabilities Act – Reasonable Accommodations Provided Upon Request (360-886-5700) 

 

DEPARTMENT REPORTS:   

MAYOR’S REPORT: 

COUNCIL REPORT: 

 Councilmember Deady  

 Councilmember Morgan  

 Councilmember Edelman – Low Income Housing Tax Credit  

 Councilmember Weber  

 Councilmember Pepper 

ATTORNEY REPORT: 

PUBLIC COMMENTS: 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 



REPORT TO Black Diamond City Council 





FIRE STATION 99 



99 



Fire Station 99 was constructed over 60 years ago, 

by Fire District 17, on the site of  the old 

Congregational Church.   

Over the years several additions were made to the 

building including addition of  a pitched roof  over 

the existing flat roof. The front of  the building was 

“remodeled”  in 2009.   

The ownership of  the Station was transferred to the 

City as a result of  the Lake Sawyer annexation.  



2009 





Engine 99, 36 Years old 







Single Toilet 

in the 

Mop/Furnace 

Room 







2011 

CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND 

  

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

 

8.7  Fire and Emergency  Medical Services 

 

http://www.ci.blackdiamond.wa.us/Depts/CommDev/planning.html 

http://www.ci.blackdiamond.wa.us/Depts/CommDev/planning.html


RESPONSE TO FIRES               

 

TIME / EQUIPMENT / TRAINED PERSONNEL 

 

 

 

 

 

RESPONSE TO HEART ATTACK 

 

 

TIME / EQUIPMENT / TRAINED PERSONNEL 



In 2009, U.S. fire departments responded to 

362,500 home structure fires. These fires caused 

12,650 civilian injuries, 2,565 civilian deaths, $7.6 

billion in direct damage. 

 

92% of  all civilian structure fire deaths resulted 

from home structure fires. 

. 

Almost two-thirds (62%) of  reported home fire 

deaths resulted from fires in homes with no smoke 

alarms or no working smoke alarms. 



INSERT FLASH OVER 
VIDEO 



Six Minutes survival rate 





RESPONSE TIME IS CRITICAL TO OUTCOME 
 

Fire Station Location  

 

The further we have to go, the longer it takes to get there. 

 

 

 

Policy CF-18  “The City shall take reasonable 

steps to ensure that there is a fire station within 

1.5 mile radius or 6 minutes travel time from 

developed properties in the City”.  









Policy CF-18  “The City shall take reasonable steps 

to ensure that there is a fire station within 1.5 mile 

radius or 6 minutes travel time from developed 

properties in the City”.  

 

“The City’s current Station 99 will not be 
considered when determining compliance with this 
Policy” 

Why is this? 



Fire Station 99 Deficiencies 

 

• UNABLE TO BE STAFFED 

 

• Fire Station 99 has a combination mop 

room/furnace room/bathroom directly off  the 

apparatus bay floor, with a single toilet. No 

personal DECON shower exists for Firefighters. 

The building has no kitchen or cooking facilities. 

There are no “sleeping quarters”  

 

• Does not meet the current WAC 296-305-06507  

     for Fire Stations.  

 

• RESPONSE TIME 

 

 

 

 

•   



Fire Station 99 Deficiencies 

 
 

• APPARATUS BAY AND BAY DOORS TOO SMALL 

 

      

 

  

The only fire engine owned and operated by the City 

of  Black Diamond or King County Fire District 44 

that will fit in this building is Engine 99 (and is 36 

years old). 

The Fire Station was built when Fire Apparatus was 

smaller.  
 

MODERN DAY FIRE APPARATUS WILL NOT FIT IN THIS 

BUILDING 



Engine 99 is a 1981 Pierce Arrow, and is the primary 1st response 

fire apparatus out of  Fire Station 99.  This Fire Apparatus has a 

1,250 GPM pump and carries 750 Gallons of  water. The Fire 

Apparatus has 70,000 miles reading on the odometer and 16,433 

hours reading on the hour meter, this hour meter indicates the 

number of  hours the diesel engine has been run. The Fire 

Apparatus is 34 years old. Purchased used from Kent Fire for 

 $ 23,000. This Fire Engine is 36 Years old.  

It is recommended that 

apparatus manufactured prior 

to 1991 that is less than 25 

years old, that has been 

properly maintained, and that is 

still in serviceable condition 

should be placed in reserve 

status and upgraded to 

incorporate as many features 

as possible of the post-1991 fire 

apparatus (see Section D.3). 

Apparatus that was not 

manufactured to the applicable 

NFPA fire apparatus standards 

or that is over 25 years old 

should be replaced. 

National Fire Protection Association 

(NFPA) 



The need for Station Replacement  

Prior to 1980, replacement plan identifies the heating system as 

“coal fired” unknown what year the plan is from. 

 

1980   Proposed new Fire Station Plan 

 

1993   Fire Department Strategic Plan (Management  Development 

Institute) New Station 99 

 

1999   Fire Department Master Plan , New Fire Station 99 

 

2003/04  Plans for replacement of  Fire Station 99  

 

2006   ILA  City of  Black Diamond Dist 44 

2009   Black Diamond Comprehensive Plan 

2011   Yarrow Bay CFD Request 

2012   Presentation to City Council, Sta. 99 

2015   Fire Ad Hoc Report 

2016   Council Special meeting, Fire Chief  Report Ad Hoc 

 
The need to replace Station 99 has been identified  

many times in the past  36 years. 



• STAFFING PROBLEM 

 

• RESPONSE TIME PROBLEM 

 

• FIRE APPARATUS PROBLEM 

 

DURING THE MPD MITIGATION PROCESS THIS FIRE 

STATION WAS IDENTIFIED AS NOT BEING 

CONSIDERED WHEN IDENTIFYING THE NEEDS FOR 

FIRE STATIONS IN THE CITY.  

 

THIS STATION IS PROBLEMATIC IN MEETING THE 

NEEDS FOR THE CITY TODAY, REGARDLESS OF 

FUTURE EXPANSION.  





































































 

Black Diamond Special Joint City Council/PC Minutes – July 12, 2016 
 Page 1 of 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER, FLAG SALUTE: 
 
Mayor Benson called the special joint meeting of the Council and Planning Commission to 
order at 6:16 p.m. and led us all in the Flag Salute. 
 

ROLL CALL: 
 
PRESENT:  Councilmembers Deady, Edelman, Morgan, Weber and Pepper.  
                   Planning Commissioners McCain, LaConte, Ambur, Senecal, Ammons, and    
                   Ekberg.  
 
ABSENT:    None 
 
Staff present: Barbara Kincaid, Community Development Director and Brenda L. Martinez, 
City Clerk. 
 

WORK SESSION: 
 
City’s Comprehensive Plan Update – Land Use Element Continuation 
 
Community Development Director Kincaid reported that tonight’s special joint work 
session is a continuation from the last joint meeting on review of the land use element of 
the Comprehensive Plan update.  She also noted bringing the appendix tonight and will 
review the highlights of it. 
 
She discussed Table 5.1 which is the chart for the land use categories next to the zoning 
district that shows designations, densities, and acreage.  Table 5.2 shows historic, existing, 
and future projected City population totals and densities.  There was discussion on the 
need to rewrite units to mean people rather than units. 
 
Ms. Kincaid discussed the difference between the land use and zoning maps.  She added 
this is not a pro-growth plan and we need to be realistic and relay what we know to the 
state. 
 
5.6.5  Commercial 
 
Ms. Kincaid referred to the City’s official land use map and discussed the different type of 
designations.  She discussed the area around Black Diamond road and near SR 169 has a 
mixed use designation, however the City never adopted a mixed used zone so we need to 
decide what to do with this.  She noted all three categories are essentially a mixed use 

 BLACK DIAMOND SPECIAL JOINT  
CITY COUNCIL/PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES 

July 12, 2016 
Council Chamber, 25510 Lawson Street, Black Diamond, Washington 



 

Black Diamond Special Joint City Council/PC Minutes – July 12, 2016 
 Page 2 of 4 

(Town Center, Community, and Neighborhood).  She outlined where each category can be 
found on the map. 
 
After a lengthy discussion, it was determined that the area referred to as the “north triangle” 

in Lawson Hills should be designated Community Commercial, the adjoining rectangle that 

is part of the Villages MPD should be shown as Medium Density Residential (MDR-8) on 

the eastern strip that is shown as High Density Residential on the Villages Land Use Map 

since it is possible to achieve the desired density under MDR-8. The west side of the 

adjoining rectangle, shown as commercial/office/retail on the Villages Design Concept and 

Land Use Plan map should be designated as Community Commercial.  For the area in the 

Villages on both sides of the Auburn-Black Diamond Road where it shows 

commercial/office/retail on the north side of the road and mixed-use on the south side of the 

road, the land use designation should be Neighborhood Commercial to fit the intent of the 

plan to have a village center with local retail/commercial businesses with residential.  

 
Designation Criteria 
 

Policy LU-59:  Retain and enhance the existing commercial areas while providing 
sites large enough to accommodate significant commercial uses.   Ok as written. 

Policy LU-60: Provide day-to-day retail goods and series within walking distance of 
most residential neighborhoods. Ok as written. 

Policy LU-61: Encourage well-planned, coordinated commercial development 
within the SR 169 area and discourage strip retail development.   Strike “discourage 
strip retail development” and after and add “meet the City’s adopted design 
standards for the gateway overlay district”. 

Policy LU-62: Prioritize funding of infrastructure and community enhancement 
projects in the Town Center to encourage redevelopment and investment in this 
area.  Ok as written. 

Policy LU-63: Strike this policy. 

Policy LU-64: The Town Center area should include a mix of residential, civic, retail, 
commercial, office, entertainment, services and hospitality services (inns and 
meeting centers).    Strike (inns and meeting centers). 

Policy LU-65:  Merge 64 and 65. 

Policy LU-66:  Strike this policy. 

Policy LU-67:  Strike this policy. 

Policy LU-68:  Ok as written. 

5.6.6 Public 

Policy LU-69:  Ok as written. 



 

Black Diamond Special Joint City Council/PC Minutes – July 12, 2016 
 Page 3 of 4 

Policy LU-70:  Ok as written. 

Policy LU-71:  Public building should fulfill their role as gathering areas and 
community resources.  Need to add the words “and spaces” after the word 
“buildings”. 

5.7 Regional Coordination 

Land Use Goal:  Ok as written. 

Policy LU-72: Ok as written. 

Policy LU-73:  Ok as written. 

Policy LU-74:  Coordinate with other governmental jurisdictions to site, when 
necessary, essential public facilities that are typically difficult to site and which are 
necessary to meet the needs of the City’s present and future growth.  Change to 
say “regions growth”. 

Policy LU-75:  Ok as written. 

Policy LU-76:  Ok as written. 

5.8 Open Space 

Policy LU-77:  Need to add a policy on working with King County. 

Policy LU-78:  Integrate all significant natural areas (wetlands, streams, steep 
slopes, geologic hazards, and 100-year floodplains) into the open space overlay.   
Change to flood hazard areas and strike 100 year flood plain. 

Policy LU-79: Use the open space system to protect surface and groundwater 
quality.   

Policy LU-80:  Ok as written. 

Policy LU-81:  Ok as written. 

Policy LU-82:  Ok as written. 

Policy LU-83:  Encourage the preservation and protection of open space through a 
variety of approaches that respect the landowner's commitment to the property, 
including TDR, open space tax incentives, cluster development, public land 
acquisition, conservation easements, and other public and private initiatives. Strike 
“that respect the landowner’s commitment to the property”. 

Policy LU-84:  Develop a stewardship plan for open space. A stewardship plan 
would identify techniques and ways to maintain and enhance the active and passive 
open space areas (that lie outside the protected environmentally sensitive areas). 



 

Black Diamond Special Joint City Council/PC Minutes – July 12, 2016 
 Page 4 of 4 

The stewardship plan may rely on community involvement to implement the plan.  
Say “Encourage the development of” and strike “Develop”. 

Policy LU-85:  Regularly review the Black Diamond Area Open Space Protection 
Agreement approved in 2005 and will actively investigate and enforce any 
violations of the agreement.  Add “to ensure compliance of the agreement” after 
“2005” and strike “and will actively investigate and enforce any violations of the 
agreement”. 

Policy LU-86: Add working in a policy to identify new opens spaces and map them.  
Also add language referring to a Figure X-X. 

5.8 Shoreline Management 

No changes 

 

Ms. Kincaid thanked everyone for their input tonight. 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 
A motion was made by Commissioner Ambur and seconded Councilmember Deady to 
adjourn the meeting.  Motion passed with all voting in favor. 

 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:29:36 p.m. 
         
    ATTEST: 
 
 
          
Carol Benson, Mayor    Brenda L. Martinez, City Clerk 



 

Black Diamond City Council Special Meeting Minutes – September 8, 2016 
 Page 1 of 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER, FLAG SALUTE: 
 
Mayor Benson called the regular work session meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. and led us all 
in the Flag Salute. 
 

ROLL CALL: 
 
PRESENT:  Councilmembers Deady, Morgan, Edelman, Weber and Pepper.  
 
ABSENT:  None 
 
Staff present:  May Miller, Finance Director; Seth Boettcher, Public Works Director, and 
Brenda L. Martinez, City Clerk. 
 
DRAFT CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN – GENERAL GOVERNMENT CAPITAL PROJECTS 
 
Mayor Benson welcomed everyone to the meeting and noted tonight’s meeting is an 
overview of the Public Works Capital projects portion of the draft Capital Improvement 
Plan.  She then turned the meeting over the Public Works Director Seth Boettcher. 
 
Public Works Director Boettcher noted assuming Council has reviewed the document prior 
to the meeting he will briefly go over each project and leave time for any Council 
questions.  He also noted that Finance Director Miller will be reviewing with Council the 
summary pages of the document. 
 
STREET DEPARTMENT 
 
Public Works Director Boettcher reviewed and discussed with Council the following park 
projects: 
 
T1 – General Street Improvements 
T2 – Roberts Drive Improvements 
T3 – New Arterial “Annexation Road” 
T4 – Lake Sawyer Road Extension 
T5 – 224th Guardrail at Covington Creek 
T6 – 224th Ave SE Asphalt Overlay 
T7 – Roberts Drive Roundabout 
T8 – Roberts Drive Rehabilitation Phase 2 
T9 – 232nd Ave. SE Chip Seal 

 BLACK DIAMOND CITY COUNCIL  
SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

September 8, 2016 
Council Chamber, 25510 Lawson Street, Black Diamond, Washington 



 

Black Diamond City Council Special Meeting Minutes – September 8, 2016 
 Page 2 of 3 

T10 – 216th Avenue SE Overlay 
T11 – Lawson Street Phase 1 
T12 – Grant Matching Fund 
T13 – Lawson Street Sidewalk Phase 2 
T14 – Downtown Pedestrian and Bicycle Linkages Study 
T15 – Lawson Connector 
T16 – BD-Ravensdale Rd/Roberts Drive/SR 169 Interim Intersection Improvements 
T17 – North Connector 
T18 – Roberts Drive/Lake Sawyer Rd Extension Roundabout 
T19 - BD-Ravensdale Rd/Roberts Drive/SR 169 Permanent Intersection Improvements 
T20 – Roberts Dr/Annexation Road Intersection Improvements 
T21 – 216th Ave SE/SE 288th St. Intersection Improvements 
 
Finance Director Miller reviewed with Council the Street Department (Transportation 
Projects) Capital Summary page of the plan. 
 
WATER DEPARTMENT 
 
Public Works Director Boettcher reviewed and discussed with Council the following park 
projects: 
 
W1 – 4.3 Mil Gal Tank Maintenance and Repairs 
W2 – Springs and Transmission Reconstruction (WSFFA) 
W3 – Water Comprehensive Plan Update 
W-4 – Salmon Enhancement and Green Energy 
W5 – Asbestos Watermain Replacement Program 
W6 – 0.5 MG Water Reservoir Recoat 
W7 – Fire Flow Loop – North Commercial Area 
 
Finance Director Miller reviewed with Council the Water Department Capital Project 
Summary page of the plan. 
 
SEWER DEPARTMENT 
 
Public Works Director Boettcher reviewed and discussed with Council the following park 
projects: 
 
S1 – Upgrade Facilities Staff Facility 
S2 – Infiltration and Inflow Reduction Program 
S3 – Cedarbrook Sewer Main 
S4 – Material Handling Facility – Under description in the last sentence add the word 
“keep” after “to”.  Under background revise language to say “sells back” instead of 
“turns back”. 
S5 – Morganville Force Main Reroute – It was suggested to indent each paragraph. 
S6 – Equipment Replacement Program  
 



 

Black Diamond City Council Special Meeting Minutes – September 8, 2016 
 Page 3 of 3 

Finance Director Miller reviewed with Council the Sewer Department Capital Project 
Summary page of the plan. 
 
STORMWATER DEPARTMENT 
 
Public Works Director Boettcher reviewed and discussed with Council the following park 
projects: 
 
D1 – Lawson Hill Estates Storm Pond 
D2 – Replace Covington Creek Culverts 
D3 – North Commercial and SR 169 Stormwater Treatment Pond 
D4 – Ginder Creek Headwall 
D5 – Lawson Hills Stormwater Ponds 
D6 – Replace Diamond Gen Storm Pond 
 
Finance Director Miller reviewed with Council the Stormwater Department Capital Project 
summary page of the plan.  
 
In closing, Finance Director Miller reviewed the Public Works Fund summary page, the 
Public Works Revenue summary page and discussed the REET 2 analysis summary page.   
She also reviewed the calendar page that shows a public hearing for this plan is scheduled 
for September 15, 2016.  She stressed this is not a budget; it is just a plan. 
 
Councilmember Deady stated she would like to add two projects to the plan:  1) Add a 
security fence around the public works yard.  She noted believing this is a security issue 
and feels it should be added and would like to see it happen in 2017 or 2018.  It was 
proposed to add this project to S1 - Upgrade Facilities Staff Facility, and 2) add more 
parking on Railroad Avenue.  She noted this would help the businesses in the area and our 
economy.  Discussion ensued and it was suggested to add these projects to the plan. 
 
Councilmember Pepper stated she believes the gym is a gem to the community and would 
like to have a large sign placed to identify it.  Discussion ensued and it was suggested to 
add this project to the parks area of the plan. 
 

ADJOURNMENT: 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Edelman and seconded by Councilmember Pepper 
to adjourn the meeting.  Motion passed with all voting in favor (5-0).  The meeting ended 
at 8:10 p.m. 
 
         
    ATTEST: 
 
 
          
Carol Benson, Mayor    Brenda L. Martinez, City Clerk 











































 

Black Diamond City Council Minutes – August 18, 2016  Page 1 of 7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
CALL TO ORDER, FLAG SALUTE: 
 
Mayor Benson called the regular meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. and led us all in the Flag 
Salute. 
 

ROLL CALL: 
 
PRESENT:  Councilmembers Deady, Morgan, Edelman, Weber and Pepper. 
 
ABSENT:  None 
 
Staff present:  Seth Boettcher, Public Works Director; Andy Williamson, Interim Community 
Development Director/MDRT/Ec Dev Director; Jamey Kiblinger, Police Chief; Mike Kenyon, 
City Attorney; Peter Altman, City Labor Attorney and Brenda L. Martinez, City Clerk. 
 
At 7:00:39 p.m. Mayor Benson announced the Council would be going into an executive 
session as allowed by RCW 42.30.140(4) to discuss collective bargaining with City Labor 
Attorney Altman.  The executive session was anticipated to last 30 minutes with no final 
action following the session. 
 
At a ten minute extension was announced 7:30 p.m. 
 
The meeting was called back to order at 7:40:07 p.m. 
 

APPOINTMENTS, ANNOUNCEMENTS, PROCLAMATIONS AND 
PRESENTATIONS:  
 
Mayor Benson announced she received a letter from Gomer Evan’s sister and read an 
excerpt.  The whole letter is attached and incorporated into the minutes.  She instructed 
the City Clerk to email a copy of it to the Councilmembers.   
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Deady and seconded by Councilmember Edelman 
to move the consent agenda to be after public comments.  Motion passed with all voting in 
favor 5-0. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
 

 BLACK DIAMOND CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 
August 18, 2016 

Council Chamber, 25510 Lawson Street, Black Diamond, Washington 



 

Black Diamond City Council Minutes – August 18, 2016  Page 2 of 7 

Peter French, Bonney Lake commented that he works for the Enumclaw School District and 
noted being one of the project managers for the Black Diamond Elementary School project.  
He read a statement from Superintendent Mike Nelson into the record as Mr. Nelson was 
unable to attend.  This statement is attached and incorporated into the minutes. 
 
Judy Goodwin, Black Diamond commented on the resolution before Council regarding the 
Traffic Mitigation Agreement with the Enumclaw School District.  She noted supporting this 
resolution and urged Council to support the kids and pass it tonight. 
 
Brock Deady, Black Diamond announced that his wife Councilmember Tamie Deady was 
named Civil Servant of the Year for Black Diamond.   He highlighted the volunteer work she 
does around the Community. 
 
Melody Mann, Black Diamond asked about the TBD fee and wondered if other money 
could be used to fund streets.  She also asked if people had a say in this fee and inquired as 
to what projects the money will fund.  She stated not being able to afford this fee and not 
being able to afford the front end alignments due to the shape of our roads and wondered 
where she could bill that to. 
 
Robbin Taylor, Black Diamond discussed the Six Year Transportation Improvement Plan and 
the schedule of when it has been before Council and the actions taken on it.  She also 
discussed the ramifications for not passing this plan and the need for Council to get work 
done for the City. 
 
Kristen Bryant, Bellevue discussed making comments before Council on the Six Year 
Transportation Improvement Plan.  She noted her comments were that there wasn’t a 
clear and detailed breakdown of some of the projects that had multiple funding sources 
and it might be relevant to identify Transportation Benefit District money; there was not 
alot of background information provided in an easy and accessible format to the public 
that led to how that TIP was put together.  She also noted not seeing anything that has 
addressed that comment.  She then read a prepared written statement into the record 
regarding the voluntary traffic mitigation agreement which is attached and incorporated 
into the minutes. 
 
Judith Carrier, Auburn discussed enjoying the Labor Day celebration in Black Diamond for 
over 50 years.  She noted attending the July 21 Council meeting and the Council needing to 
know that what they approve it best for the City.  She commented on three 
Councilmembers expressing appreciation for the Labor Day Committee and volunteers.  
She discussed key documents not being available to Councilmembers on the 21st and noted 
that finally on July 29th a packet of information came to only one member of the Council 
for this event.  She then discussed the schedule of approval for fire review, WSDOT review 
and the three separate permits that were issued on the 25th.  She added these were not 
necessary and may be illegal.  She discussed when things go to committee they are there 
for review and to ask questions so members know what they are approving.  She asked 
how many times the Labor Day permit has come before Council and noted this permit has 
never come before Council, however it did come before Council on the 21st. 



 

Black Diamond City Council Minutes – August 18, 2016  Page 3 of 7 

 

CONSENT AGENDA: 

A motion was made by Councilmember Edelman and seconded by Councilmember Deady 
to adopt the Consent Agenda.   

A motion was made by Councilmember Weber and seconded by Councilmember Morgan 
to amend the motion to pull out check number 43820 (Kenyon Disend claim voucher) and 
the meeting minutes of July 21 and August 7 and have them placed under new business for 
discussion. 

There was discussion between Councilmembers as to why these items were being pulled 
from the consent agenda and placed under new business for discussion. 

Vote:  Amended motion passed 3-2 (Edelman, Deady).  Main motion as amended passed 
5-0.    The Consent Agenda was approved as follows: 

1) Claim Checks – August 18, 2016 - No. 43800 through No. 43849 and EFTs in the 
amount of $107,019.69  (Excluding check number 43820 -Kenyon Disend 
voucher) 

2) Payroll – July 31, 2016 – No. 19175 through No. 19193 (voids 18773, 18795, 
18829, 19183, 19188) and EFTs in the amount of $268,305.28 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: None 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  None 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
Resolution regarding Voluntary Traffic Mitigation Agreement with Enumclaw School 
District 
 
Public Works Director Boettcher discussed being very busy with this project and 
highlighted the actions that have taken place on the project.  He stated now that we 
approved SEPA we need to resolve the traffic issue.  The City has reviewed and accepted a 
proposed pro rata share traffic and safety mitigation contribution proposed by the school 
district and supported by their transportation technical report.  He noted as the appointed 
professional engineer for the City and fulfilling authority of his role he has reviewed the 
methodology of the proposal, the equitability, the nexus to the affected intersections and 
the proportionality of what is proposed.  He stated his role is to assess and determine that 
concurrency requirements have been met as well as in concert with the Planning Director 
and evaluation of the impacts through SEPA.  He noted this being a common type of 
agreement to address traffic mitigation which allows the school district to move forward 
with their project and pay a pro rata share of the equitable fix of four intersections.  He 
encouraged Council support so they could move forward on the school project. 
 
Councilmember Edelman encouraged passage of this resolution tonight. 



 

Black Diamond City Council Minutes – August 18, 2016  Page 4 of 7 

 
A motion was made by Councilmember Pepper and seconded by Councilmember Morgan 
to table this to the Growth Management Committee. 
 
There was discussion among Councilmembers and staff on this issue with the focus being 
the information before Council, the role of staff, who determines concurrency, the action 
before Council, the project schedule, questions Councilmembers may have, timing of this 
issue coming before Council, and the use of committees for items before Council. 
 
City Attorney Kenyon asked for a 10 minute executive session on potential litigation as 
authorized by RCW 42.30.110(1)(i). 
 
At 8:36 p.m. the Mayor recessed the meeting for an executive session.  Mayor Benson, 
Councilmember Deady and Councilmember Edelman attended the executive session.  
Councilmembers Morgan, Weber and Pepper declined to attend the executive session.  
City Attorney Kenyon re-entered the Chambers and individually asked Councilmembers 
Morgan, Weber and Pepper if they would like to participate in the executive session and 
again they declined.  
 
Mayor Benson called the meeting back to order at 8:46 p.m. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Deady and seconded by Councilmember Edelman 
to authorize the Mayor to execute an agreement with the Enumclaw School District for 
contribution to improvements at four intersections impacted by the new Black Diamond 
Elementary School Project.   
 
Councilmember Pepper stated to the Chair that there is already a motion and second on 
the floor.  City Attorney Kenyon confirmed that there was a pending motion to table 
before the executive session and there should be a vote on that motion unless that motion 
was ruled out of order which he hadn’t heard.  Mayor Benson ruled the previous motion to 
table out of order as there are no Council committees.   
 
Councilmember Pepper appealed the decision of the Chair and was ruled out of order. 
 
Councilmember Edelman called the question. 
 
City Attorney Kenyon clarified for the record that the motion to table was ruled out of 
order by the presiding officer and given that, that motion is no longer on the floor.  The 
motion on the floor is a motion to authorize the Mayor to execute the Traffic Mitigation 
Agreement and that’s what Council is voting on now. 
 
Vote:  Motion passed 4-1 (Morgan). 
 
Kenyon Disend Claim Voucher 
 



 

Black Diamond City Council Minutes – August 18, 2016  Page 5 of 7 

Councilmember Weber discussed being concerned that the contracts being authorized by 
the Mayor under her $15,000 authority are serial contracts and circumventing the hiring of 
a full time Attorney.  Mayor Benson noted she has the authority to hire the City Attorney 
and state law requires the City to have an attorney and if Council won’t approve the 
contract she can approve them over and over as it’s required by law. 
 
Councilmember Weber noted bringing this issue up before when discussing building 
permitting and noted the Mayor had the authority to do a contract and the Mayor’s 
response back was to call a special meeting.  He added if he understands correctly (needs 
to go back and look at the email) that according to the state auditor that’s kind of a red flag 
when you are continually doing serial contracts.  Mayor Benson commented that she had a 
conversation with the state auditor on this and it is ok as the City has to have an attorney. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Weber and seconded by Councilmember Pepper to 

pay claim check #43820 for Kenyon Disend in the amount of $15,126.54.  Motion passed 4-

1 (Morgan). 
 
Minutes of July 21, 2016 and August 4, 2016 
 
Councilmember Pepper discussed pulling the minutes of August 4th and July 21 as two 
citizens reached out concerned that their public comments were not reflected as 
accurately as they could be. 
 
There was Council discussion on the August 4th minutes.  
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Weber to postpone approval of these minutes 
until the next regularly scheduled meeting and give time to go back and listen to the 
audio.   
 
There was Council discussion on the July 21st minutes.  
 
Councilmember Weber withdrew his motion. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Edelman and seconded by Councilmember Pepper 
to amend the August 4th minutes to include the two emails for those citizens.  Motion 
passed with all voting in favor 5-0. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Morgan and seconded by Councilmember Weber 
to postpone action on the July 21st minutes to the next regular Council meeting on 
September 1, 2016.  Motion passed 3-2 (Edelman, Deady). 
 

DEPARTMENT REPORTS:  
 
Police -   Chief Kiblinger distributed and reviewed with Council the Black Diamond Police 
Department Report/Update for August 2016.   

 



 

Black Diamond City Council Minutes – August 18, 2016  Page 6 of 7 

Community Development – Interim Community Development Director Williamson 
reported on the Tough Mudder event that is coming to the City.  He noted the special 
event permit will be coming before Council at their September 1st meeting and distributed 
information to Council regarding this event.  He urged Council to call him with any 
questions they may have as there is a need for Council action at the meeting on September 
1st. 
 
In addition, Mr. Williamson distributed the DKS claim voucher along with the information 
requested during the last Council meeting by Councilmember Morgan and the agreement 
of Council if he brought the requested information forward, Council would approve the 
payment.  He noted following Council’s direction and stated he is hopeful that there will be 
Council action on this tonight. 
 
Councilmember Weber noted appreciating taking Councilmember Morgan’s and his 
suggestion and asked if this action needed to be done by resolution.  City Attorney Kenyon 
stated there is no legal requirement to have it approved by resolution – it can be done by a 
motion. 
 
Councilmember Morgan commented on wanting to make sure that the spending authority 
of the Mayor applies in the future. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Weber and seconded by Councilmember Edelman 
to take the DKS Voucher off the table and approve payment.  Motion passed with all voting 
in favor 5-0. 
 

MAYOR’S REPORT:   

 
Mayor Benson reported that Judge Dane will be attending the next Council meeting to give 
an update on the Court.  She also reported attending the SCATBd meeting, one year 
celebration of life for Greg Goral.  She discussed attending Chief for a Day and would like to 
bring them to a future Council meeting for introductions. 
 

COUNCIL REPORTS:  
 
Councilmember Deady discussed how she makes times to address issues with staff when 
working a full time job in November and December.  She noted attending the Port of 
Seattle Tour, Chief for a Day, and the one year celebration of life for Greg Goral. 
 
Councilmember Morgan reported on the budget and financial workshop she attended.  She 
highlighted topics and points of discussion from this workshop. 
 
Councilmember Edelman reported she attended a meeting on August 11 with the Mayor, 
Finance Director and Councilmember Deady to review the vouchers, the one year 
celebration of life for Greg Goral, Chamber Luncheon on August 17th, Port of Seattle Tour, 
and Chief for a Day. 
 



 

Black Diamond City Council Minutes – August 18, 2016  Page 7 of 7 

Councilmember Weber commented that the children from Black Diamond Elementary 
School will be attending JJ Smith this school while the new school here in Black Diamond is 
being built.  He also noted the School District has done a great job in getting that facility 
ready for the kids.  He thanked the Boys Scouts who were in attendance at the meeting. 
 
Councilmember Pepper commented on the need for a professional parliamentarian at the 
Council meetings.  She noted having known parliamentary process in different settings and 
the need to have a registered parliamentarian so the roles and duties of all can be done.  
She also noted needing to work on points of order and other areas and believes it’s 
exciting that Black Diamond is getting a new elementary school. 
 

ATTORNEY REPORT:  None 
 

PUBLIC COMMENTS: None 
 

ADJOURNMENT: 
A motion was made by Councilmember Edelman and seconded by Councilmember Deady 
to adjourn the meeting.  Motion passed with all voting in favor (5-0).  The meeting ended 
at 9:33 p.m. 
 
    ATTEST: 
 
 
 
          
Carol Benson, Mayor    Brenda L. Martinez, City Clerk 



















































































































































CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA BILL 

City of Black Diamond 
Post Office Box 599 

Black Diamond, WA 98010 
ITEM INFORMATION 

SUBJECT:   
 

Resolution authorizing the Mayor to 
execute an amendment of the current 
contract with HWA GeoSciences to 
serve as the geotechnical consultant 
to the MDRT 

Agenda Date:  October 6, 2016            AB16-053A 

 Mayor  Carol Benson  

City Administrator   

City Attorney David Linehan  

City Clerk – Brenda L. Martinez  

Com Dev/Nat Res – Andy Williamson  

Finance – May Miller  

MDRT/Eco Dev – Andy Williamson X 

Cost Impact  -  Developer funded per the 
Development Agreement 

Police – Chief Kiblinger  

Fund Source: -- CCD Black Diamond Partners 
LLC /Oakpointe LLC 

Public Works – Seth Boettcher  

Timeline: immediately Court  – Stephanie Metcalf  

   

Agenda Placement:  Mayor   Two Councilmembers  Committee Chair  City Administrator 

Attachments: Resolution xxx; Amendment to HWA GeoSciences geotechnical Consultant PSA Contract  

SUMMARY STATEMENT:  
 
Councilmembers Deady and Edelman have requested this item to be placed on the agenda. 
 

This resolution is to extend the contract via Resolution 14-977, for geotechnical services with HWA 
GeoSciences.  
 
 
 
FISCAL NOTE: (Finance Department): Per the Funding Agreement, all cost associated will the contract 
will be reimbursed by the Developer. 
 

COUNCIL COMMITTEE REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION: 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: MOTION to adopt Resolution No. 16-xxx (Clerk to assign 
number after adoption), authorizing the Mayor to execute a professional 
service agreement with HWA GeoSciences for the Geotechnical consultant for 
the Master Development Review Team. 

RECORD OF COUNCIL ACTION 
Meeting Date  Action      Vote 

September 1, 2016 Motion to table.                                             Passed 3-1 (Deady) 

September 15, 2016 Motion to postpone to Oct 6.                       Passed 5-0 

October 6, 2016  



 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-_______ 

 

  A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

BLACK DIAMOND, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH HWA 

GEOSCIENCES FOR GEOTECHNICAL CONSULTANT 

SERVICES FOR THE MDRT 
 
 
 

WHEREAS, on September 18, 2014 the Consultant and the City entered into a contract 
for ongoing services as described in the contract; and 
 

WHEREAS, the contract will soon expire, and the City would like to continue the 
contract with the consultant; 
 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND, 

WASHINGTON, DOES RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 

Section 1.  Authorize the mayor to enter into a contract for services as outlined in the 
contract between the Consultant and the City. 
 
 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND, 

WASHINGTON, AT A REGULAR MEETING THEREOF, THIS   DAY OF   

  , 2016. 

 
       CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND: 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Carol Benson, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Brenda L. Martinez, City Clerk 



Page 1 

CONSULTANT SERVICES CONTRACT  
FOR GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING SERVICES 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND AND 

HWA GEOSCIENCES INC. 

THIS AGREEMENT is made by and between the City of Black Diamond, a Washington 
municipal corporation (hereinafter the "City"), and HWA GEOSCIENCES Inc., 
(hereinafter the “Consultant,”) a corporation organized under the laws of the State of 
Washington located and doing business at 21312 30th Drive SE, Suite 110, Bothell, WA 
98021.  

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the City does not have on sufficient staff resources to provide 

Geotechnical Engineering services to meet the needs of the MDRT; and 

WHEREAS, the City has funding available from YarrowBay and an approved 

budget to fund the oversight, engineering review, inspections, development agreement 

enforcement and assisting the City with its regulatory role; and 

WHEREAS, the City has advertised for geotechnical engineering services and 

selected the best-qualified consultant for the work contemplated herein; and 

WHEREAS, the Consultant previously entered into a contract to provide the City 
with same or similar services for the MDRT, and Consultant and City now desire to 
continue working together on MDRT matters under the terms and conditions set forth 
herein;  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises set forth herein, it is 
agreed by and between the parties as follows: 

TERMS 

I. Description of Work.

The Consultant shall be prepared to assist the City with all of the work described 
in Exhibit A (General Scope of Work), which is attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by this reference.  The municipal fiscal analysis services to be provided to the City by the 
Consultant shall be identified in on-call task requests for each project task for which the 
City requires Consultant services.  No work shall be commenced by Consultant under this 
Agreement except pursuant to such an on call task request issued by the City in the form 
attached as Exhibit B, which is incorporated herein by this reference.  Consultant shall 
perform the services described in the on-call task request in accordance with the schedule 
and scope of work set forth in the on-call task request (Exhibit B).  



Page 2 

II. Payment 
 

A.   The City shall pay the Consultant an amount based on time and materials, not 
to exceed One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00) for the services described in 
Section I herein. This is the maximum amount to be paid under this Agreement for the 
work described in Exhibit A, and shall not be exceeded without the prior written 
authorization of the City in the form of a negotiated and executed supplemental 
agreement. The progress billings for the work completed shall be compensated according 
to the rates and charges identified in Exhibit C, which is incorporated herein by this 
reference. 

 
B.    The Consultant shall submit monthly invoices to the City after such services 

have been performed, and a final bill upon completion of all the services described in this 
Agreement. The City shall pay the full amount of an invoice within sixty (60) days of 
receipt. If the City objects to all or any portion of any invoice, it shall so notify the 
Consultant of the same within fifteen (15) days from the date of receipt and shall pay that 
portion of the invoice not in dispute, and the parties shall immediately make a good faith 
effort to settle the disputed portion.  
 

III. Relationship of Parties 
 

The parties intend that an independent contractor-client relationship will be created 
by this Agreement. As the Consultant is customarily engaged in an independently 
established trade which encompasses the specific service provided to the City hereunder, 
no agent, employee, representative or sub-consultant of the Consultant shall be or shall 
be deemed to be the employee, agent, representative or sub-consultant of the City. In the 
performance of the work, the Consultant is an independent contractor with the ability to 
control and direct the performance and details of the work, the City being interested only 
in the results obtained under this Agreement. None of the benefits provided by the City to 
its employees including, but not limited to, compensation, insurance, and unemployment 
insurance are available from the City to the employees, agents, representatives, or sub-
consultants of the Consultant. The Consultant will be solely and entirely responsible for 
its acts and for the acts of its agents, employees, representatives and sub-consultants 
during the performance of this Agreement. The City may, during the term of this 
Agreement, engage other independent contractors to perform the same or similar work 
that the Consultant performs hereunder. 
 

IV. Duration of Work 
 

This Agreement shall remain in effect from the date this Agreement is signed by 
both parties until such time as either party gives written notice of termination pursuant to 
Section V, below.   

 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 3 

V. Termination 
 

A. Termination of Agreement. The City may terminate this Agreement, for public 
convenience, the Consultant's default, the Consultant’s insolvency or bankruptcy, or the 
Consultant's assignment for the benefit of creditors, at any time prior to completion of the 
work described in Exhibit A. Termination shall be effective immediately upon the 
Consultant's receipt of the City's written notice or such date stated in the City's notice, 
whichever is later. 
 

B. Rights Upon Termination. In the event of termination, the City shall pay for all 
services satisfactorily performed by the Consultant to the effective date of termination, as 
described on a final invoice submitted to the City. Said amount shall not exceed the 
amount in Section II above. After termination, the City may take possession of all records 
and data within the Consultant’s possession pertaining to this Agreement, which records 
and data may be used by the City without restriction. Upon termination, the City may take 
over the work and prosecute the same to completion, by contract or otherwise. 

 
VI. Discrimination 

 
In the hiring of employees for the performance of work under this Agreement or any sub-
contract hereunder, the Consultant, its Subcontractors, or any person acting on behalf of 
such Consultant or sub-consultant shall not by reason of race, religion, color, sex, national 
origin, or the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical disability, discriminate against 
any person who is qualified and available to perform the work to which the employment 
relates. 
 

VII. Indemnification 
 

The Consultant shall defend, indemnify and hold the City, its officers, officials, employees, 
agents and volunteers harmless from any and all claims, injuries, damages, losses or 
suits, including all legal Costs and attorneys' fees, arising out of or in connection with the 
performance of this Agreement, except for injuries and damages caused by the sole 
negligence of the City. The City's inspection or acceptance of any of the Consultant's 
work when completed shall not be grounds to avoid any of these covenants of 
indemnification. 
 
Should a court of competent jurisdiction determine that this Agreement is Subject to RCW 
4.24.115, then, in the event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury to persons 
or damages to property caused by or resulting from the concurrent negligence of the 
Consultant and the City, its officers, officials, employees, agents and Volunteers, the 
Consultant's liability hereunder shall be only to the extent of the Consultant's negligence. 
 
IT IS FURTHER SPECIFICALLY AND EXPRESSLY UNDERSTOOD THAT THE 
INDEMNIFICATION PROVIDED HEREIN CONSTITUTES THE CONSULTANT'S 
WAIVER OF IMMUNITY UNDER INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE, TITLE 51 RCW, SOLELY 
FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS INDEMNIFICATION. THE PARTIES FURTHER 
ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY HAVE MUTUALLY NEGOTIATED THIS WAIVER. THE 
CONSULTANT'S WAIVER OF IMMUNITY UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THIS 



Page 4 

SECTION DOES NOT INCLUDE, OR EXTEND TO. ANY CLAIMS BY THE 
CONSULTANT'S EMPLOYEES DIRECTLY AGAINST THE CONSULTANT. 
 
The provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement.  
 

VIII. Insurance 
 

A. The Consultant shall procure and maintain for the duration of the Agreement, 
insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise 
from or in connection with the Consultant's own work including the work of the 
Consultant's agents, representatives, employees, sub-consultants or sub-contractors. 
 

B. Before beginning any work under this Agreement, the Consultant shall provide 
evidence, in the form of a Certificate of Insurance, of the following insurance coverage 
and limits (at a minimum):  

 
1. Business auto coverage for any auto no less than a $1,000,000 each 

accident limit, and  
 

2. Commercial General Liability insurance no less than $1,000,000 per 
occurrence with a $2,000,000 aggregate. Coverage shall include, but is not limited 
to, contractual liability, products and completed operations, property damage, and 
employers liability, and  

 
3. Professional Liability insurance with no less than $1,000,000. All policies 

and coverage's shall be on a claims made basis. 
 

C. The Consultant is responsible for the payment of any deductible or self insured 
retention that is required by any of the Consultant's insurance. If the City is required to 
contribute to the deductible under any of the Consultant's insurance policies, the 
Contractor shall reimburse the City the full amount of the deductible within 10 working 
days of the City's deductible payment. 

 
D. The City of Black Diamond shall be named as an additional insured on the 

Consultant's commercial general liability policy. This additional insured endorsement shall 
be included with evidence of insurance in the form of a Certificate of Insurance for 
coverage necessary in Section B. The City reserves the right to receive a certified and 
complete copy of all of the Consultant's insurance policies.  
 

E. Under this agreement, the Consultant's insurance shall be considered primary 
in the event of a loss, damage or suit, and any insurance maintained by the City shall not 
contribute with it. The City's own comprehensive general liability policy will be considered 
excess coverage with respect to defense and indemnity of the City only and no other 
party. Additionally, the Consultant's commercial general liability policy must provide 
cross-liability coverage as could be achieved under a standard ISO separation of 
insured's clause. 

 



Page 5 

F. The Consultant shall request from his insurer a modification of the ACORD
certificate to include language that prior written notification will be given to the City of 
Black Diamond at least 30 days in advance of any cancellation, suspension or material 
change in the Consultant's coverage. 

IX. Exchange of Information

The City warrants the accuracy of any information supplied by it to the Consultant for the 
purpose of completion of the work under this Agreement. The parties agree that the 
Consultant will notify the City of any inaccuracies in the information provided by the City 
as may be discovered in the process of performing the work, and that the City is entitled 
to rely upon any information supplied by the Consultant which results as a product of 
this Agreement. 

X. Ownership and Use of Records and Documents

Original documents, drawings, designs and reports developed under this Agreement shall 
belong to and become the property of the City, and Consultant assigns to the City all of 
Consultant’s right, title, and interest in any such drawings, designs, reports, and 
documents. All written information submitted by the City to the Consultant in connection 
with the services performed by the Consultant under this Agreement will be safeguarded 
by the Consultant to at least the same extent as the Consultant safeguards like 
information relating to its own business, and in no event may Consultant use less than 
reasonable care with respect to information provided to it by the City. If such information 
is publicly available or is already in Consultant's possession or known to it, or is rightfully 
obtained by the Consultant from third parties, the Consultant shall bear no responsibility 
for its disclosure, inadvertent or otherwise. 

XI. City's Right of Inspection

Even though the Consultant is an independent contractor with the authority to control and 
direct the performance ,and details of the work authorized under this Agreement, the work 
must meet the approval of the City and shall be subject to the City's general right of 
inspection to secure the satisfactory completion thereof.  The Consultant agrees to 
comply with all federal, state, and municipal laws, rules, and regulations that are now 
effective or become applicable within the terms of this Agreement to the Consultant's 
business, equipment, and personnel engaged in operations covered by this Agreement 
or accruing out of the performance of such operations. 

XII. Consultant to Maintain Records to Support Independent Contractor Status

On the effective date of this Agreement (or shortly thereafter), the Consultant shall comply 
with all federal and state laws applicable to Independent contractors including, but not 
limited to the maintenance of a separate set of books and records that reflect all Items of 
income and expenses of the Consultant's business, pursuant to the Revised Code of 
Washington (RCW) Section 51.08.195, as required to show that the services performed 
by the Consultant under this Agreement shall not give rise to an employer-employee 
relationship between the parties which is subject to RCW Title 51, Industrial Insurance. 



Page 6 

XIII. Work Performed at the Consultant’s Risk

The Consultant shall take all precautions necessary and shall be responsible for the 
safety of its employees, agents, and sub-consultants in the performance of the work 
hereunder and shall utilize all protection necessary for that purpose. All work shall be 
done at the Consultant's own risk, and the Consultant shall be responsible for any loss of 
or damage to materials, tools, or other articles used or held by the Consultant for use In 
connection with the work. 

XIV. Non-Waiver of Breach

The failure of the City to insist upon strict performance of any of the covenants and 
agreements contained herein, or to exercise any option herein conferred in one or more 
instances, shall not be construed to be a waiver or relinquishment of said covenants, 
agreements, or options and the same shall be and remain in full force and effect. 

XV. Resolution of Disputes and Governing Law

Should any dispute, misunderstanding, or conflict arise as to the interpretation of this 
Agreement, the matter shall first be referred to the City of Black Diamond, which shall 
determine the term or provision's true intent or meaning. The City of Black Diamond shall 
also decide all questions which may arise between the parties relative to the actual 
services provided or to the sufficiency of the performance hereunder. 

If any dispute arises between the City and the Consultant under any of the provisions of 
this Agreement which cannot be resolved by the Mayor or Administrator’s determination 
in a reasonable time, or if the Consultant does not agree with the City's decision on the 
disputed matter, then either party may file suit, the jurisdiction and venue of which lies 
exclusively in King County Superior Court, King County, Washington. This Agreement 
shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Washington, excluding its choice-of-law rules. The non-prevailing party in any action 
brought to enforce this Agreement shall pay the other parties' expenses and reasonable 
attorney's fees. 

XVI. Written Notice

All communications regarding this Agreement shall be sent to the parties at the addresses 
listed on the signature page of the agreement, unless notified to the contrary. 
Unless otherwise specified, any written notice hereunder shall become effective upon the 
date of mailing by registered or certified mail, and shall be deemed sufficiently given if 
sent to the addressee at the address stated below: 

CONSULTANT: CITY: 

Attn: Donald Huling, P.E. 
HWA Geosciences Inc. 
21312 30th Drive SE, Suite 110 

Attn:  Andrew Williamson 
City of Black Diamond 
P.O. Box 599 



Page 7 

Bothell, WA 98021 24301 Roberts Drive 
Black Diamond, WA  98010 
 
With a copy to the “City Clerk” at the same 
address. 

 
XVII. Assignment 

 
Any assignment of this Agreement by the Consultant without the written consent of the 
City is void. If the City consents to any assignment, this paragraph shall continue in full 
force and effect and no further assignment shall be made without the City's consent. 
 

XVIII. Modification and Severability 
 

No waiver, alteration, or modification of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
binding unless in writing and signed by a duly authorized representative of the City and 
the Consultant. 
 
The provisions of this Agreement are declared to be severable. If any provision of this 
Agreement is for any reasons held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, such invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity or 
constitutionality of any other provision. 
 

XIX. Entire Agreement 
 

The written provisions and terms of this Agreement, together with Exhibit A, B and C 
attached hereto supersede all prior verbal statements of any officer or other 
representative of the City, and such statements shall not be effective or be construed as 
entering into or forming a part of or altering in any manner whatsoever, this Agreement 
or the Agreement documents. The entire agreement between the parties with respect to 
the subject matter hereunder is contained in this Agreement and any Exhibits attached 
hereto, which may or may not have been executed prior to the execution of this 
Agreement. All of the above documents are hereby made a part of this Agreement and 
form the Agreement document as fully as if the same were set forth herein. Should any 
language in Exhibits, A, B and C to this Agreement conflict with any language contained 
in this Agreement, then this Agreement shall prevail. 
 
  









EMPLOYEE TITLE BILLING
RATE

Sa Hong Principal IX $250.00 *
Ralph Boirum Principal IX $250.00 *
Arnie Sugar Principal VIII    $250.00 *
Christopher Garris Geotechnical Engineer VIII $240.00
Steve Greene Geologist VII  $190.00
Bryan Hawkins Geotechnical Engineer VI $170.00
Donald Huling Geotechnical Engineer V $170.00
JoLyn Gillie Geotechnical Engineer IV $140.00
Christopher Jackson Geotechnical Engineer IV $140.00
Norm Nielsen Hydrogeologist VI $139.00
Sandybell Ramos‐MartiGeotechnical Engineer II $125.00
Nicole Kapise Geologist IV $120.00
Brad Thurber Geologist V $115.00
Ali Sirjani Geotechnical Engineer I $115.00
Vasiliy Babko Contracts Administrator $105.00
Jessica Herrera Lab/Field Technician II $95.00
Bret Salazar Geologist I $85.00
Seth Pemble Geologist I $85.00
Greg Krankurs Geologist I $80.00
Elizabeth Kinney CAD $75.00
Austin York Geologist I $75.00
Christiana Fisk Administrative Support $72.00
Daniel Walton Lab/Field Technician I $65.00
Alex Lidnin Lab/Field Technician I $55.00
Adam Chidester Lab/Field Technician I $55.00

Notes:  *  Represents Capped Billing Rate

HWA GEOSCIENCES INC.

2016 BILLING RATES
(Effective 06/01/2016)

Exhibit C



www.hwageo.com

STANDARD SCHEDULE OF FEES AND CHARGES 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
Request Labor Rate Schedule

EXPENSES
All Outside Expenses (i.e., airfare, subsistence, equipment

rental, materials, reproduction, etc.) ........ Cost plus 10%
Drilling & Chemical Laboratory Subcontractors ... Cost plus 15%
Mileage (per mile) ................................. Current IRS Rate
Tests Conducted on Contaminated Soils.............Cost plus 20%
Special Sample Prep (including sample remolding).....$80/Hour
Project Sample Storage Beyond 30 Days from Final Report

Per sample, per day ........................................$0.50

LABORATORY TESTS
Soil Laboratory Tests
All contaminated soils will be returned to client for disposal.
Atterberg Limits

 Liquid Limit and Plastic Limit (ASTM D 4318)
One Point  ...........................................$110.00
Three Point  .........................................$155.00

California Bearing Ratio (ASTM D 1883)
(Requires Moisture/Density Relationship Test)

One Point ............................................$200.00
Three Point ..........................................$500.00

Consolidation Test Incremental Loading (ASTM D 2435)
9 Loads, 0.125 TSF to 32 TSF, 4 Unloads .............$600.00

Each Additional Load ............................... $55.00
Consolidation Test, Controlled Strain (ASTM D 4186)....$650.00
Grainsize Analysis

Combined Analysis (ASTM D 422) ......................$230.00
Hydrometer Analysis (ASTM D 422)....................$170.00
Passing #200 Sieve (ASTM D 1140) ...................... $55.00
PSEP Particle Size (Less than 4 Phi) ...................$260.00
Sieve Analysis-Wet (ASTM D 422) ....................... $95.00

Moisture/Density Relationship
Proctor - Cohesive (ASTM D 698, D 1557) ............$230.00
Proctor - Granular (ASTM D 698, D 1557) ............$215.00

Moisture Content w/Description ............................. $18.00
One-Dimensional Swell (ASTM D 4546) ....................$625.00
Organic Content Test (ASTM D 2974) ........................ $65.00
Permeability Tests

Permeability of Granular Soils (ASTM D 2434) .......$275.00
Falling Head Test (WSDOT 605) ........................$225.00
Triaxial with Back Pressure (ASTM D 5084) ..........$450.00
     (6-in diameter) ......................................$500.00

LABORATORY TESTS (Continued)
Permeability Tests (Con’t)

Estimate of Effective Porosity .........................$545.00
Field Capacity (sand) ...................................$195.00
Sand Drainage Characteristic Curve ..................$375.00

Relative Density (ASTM D 4253 / D 4254) .................$375.00
Shelby Tube Extrusion and Sample Description............ $40.00
Soil Resistivity & pH (WSDOT 417) ..........................$100.00

pH Only  .................................................... $35.00
Resistivity Only ............................................ $65.00

Specific Gravity Test (ASTM D 854) .......................... $80.00
Strength Testing

Direct Shear Strength (per point) (ASTM D 3080) ...$170.00
Residual Shear (per point) ..............................$170.00
Triaxial (c-u) (ASTM D 4767) ...........................$550.00

with K0 Consolidation .............................$750.00
Stress Path Tests ....................................$650.00

Triaxial (c-u) Multi-Stage (ASTM D 4767) .......... $1,350.00
Triaxial (u-u) (ASTM D 2850) ...........................$215.00
Triaxial (c-d) (ASTM D 7181).........Available Upon Request
Unconfined Compressive Strength (ASTM D 2166) ..$110.00
Modulus and Dampening of Soils under

Cyclic Loading (ASTM D 3999) ....................$750.00
Resilient Modulus of Base/Subgrade

(AASHTO T296) ................................$500.00
Unit Weight

Cohesive Soil by Waxing (USCOE) ...................... $95.00
Percent of Solids Calculation ........................... $18.00
Porosity (includes specific gravity/unit weight) ....$100.00
Soil in Ring (ASTM D 2937) .............................. $40.00
Soil in Shelby Tube (ASTM D 2937) ..................... $45.00

Visual Soil Classification ...................................... $16.00

Aggregate Quality Tests
Clay Lumps and Friable Particles (ASTM C 142) ........... $90.00
Degradation Test (WSDOT 113) .............................$225.00
Fracture Face Count (without sieve) (WSDOT 103) ....... $40.00
Grain Size (ASTM C 136, C 117) .............................$105.00
Los Angeles Abrasion (ASTM C 131, C 535) ................$195.00
Organic Impurities (ASTM C 40) .............................. $70.00
Percentage of Material Passing #200 Sieve (ASTM C 117) $55.00
Sand Equivalent (ASTM C 2419) .............................. $90.00
Soundness Using MgS04 (ASTM C 88) ........................$400.00
Specific Gravity Test

Coarse Aggregate (ASTM C 127) ........................ $75.00
Fine Aggregate (minus #4 mesh) (ASTM C 128) ......$110.00

Unit Weight by Dry Rodding (ASTM C  29) .................. $65.00
Uncompacted Voids Content of FA (ASTM C1252) ........$120.00

All prices are effective January 1, 2016 and are subject to change without notice.

HWA GeoSciences Inc. holds accreditations from the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials 
(AASHTO R-18), American Association for Laboratory Accreditation (A2LA) and validation from the U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers (USACE). We participate in the sample proficiency program from AMRL for soil classification, coarse and fine 
aggregates, Hot Mix Asphalt, California Bearing Ratio, and compaction; and CCRL for concrete.

Exhibit C



Concrete and Masonry Tests
Compression Testing of Concrete Cores 

(includes trimming) (ASTM C 42, C 513) .............. $90.00
Compression Testing of Concrete Cylinders (ASTM C 39) $25.00
Compression Testing of Grout and Mortar Specimens

(per specimen) (UBC 21-18, 21-16) .................... $20.00
Concrete Beam Flexural Strength Test (ASTM C 78) ...... $90.00
Concrete Cylinder Molds ........................................$2.50
Concrete Cylinders Sampled and Cured (not tested) ..... $25.00
Concrete Mix Design (fixed gradation) .................. $2,000.00
Density Test

Concrete Cylinders ....................................... $35.00
Light Weight Concrete Cylinders ....................... $80.00

End Trimming of Samples (if needed) ....................... $20.00
Splitting Tensile Strength Test (ASTM C 496)............... $90.00
Shotcrete Panel (cut three cores & compression test) ..$300.00

Geosynthetics Tests
Shear/Peel Strength Test (ASTM D 4437) ..................$125.00

Asphaltic Concrete Tests
Bitumen Content by Extraction 

Extraction only (ASTM D 6307) ......................... $95.00
with Gradation (ASTM D 5444,  D 6307) ..............$160.00

Bulk Specific Gravity and Density - SSD Method
(per specimen) (ASTM D 2726) .......................... $50.00

Bulk Specific Gravity and Density - Wax Method
(per specimen) (ASTM D 1188) .......................... $90.00

Marshall Stability & Flow Determination
(3 specimens) (ASTM D 6927) ..........................$500.00

Percent Air Voids in Compacted or Open Bituminous Mixtures
(ASTM D 3203) ............................................$150.00

Rice Density (WSDOT 705) .................................... $95.00
TSR  .............................................................$550.00

Rock Tests
Abrasion Resistance (ASTM C 535) ..........................$200.00
Ethylene Glycol Accelerated Expansion ...................$220.00
Riprap Soundness (ASTM D 5240) ...........................$400.00
Specific Gravity and Absorption (ASTM C 127) ............. $75.00
Splitting Tensile Strength of Rock Cores

(10 Discs) (ASTM D 3967) ...............................$225.00

EQUIPMENT CHARGES
Labor will be charged in addition to equipment charges
Air Filters for Development (per day) ...................... $50.00
BK Development Pump/Surge Block (per day) ............ $20.00
Bolt Tension Calibrator (per day) ............................ $50.00
Carbon Filter (per day) ....................................... $50.00
Coating Thickness Gauges (per day) ........................ $25.00
Combustible Gas Tech Meter (GT 302 / 3220)

Per day ....................................................$100.00
Per week ..................................................$300.00

Coring Equipment Charge  .......................Request Schedule

Data Logger and Transducers
Per day ....................................................$150.00
Per week ..................................................$500.00

Dissolved Oxygen Meter
Per day ..................................................... $95.00
Per week ..................................................$300.00

Falling Weight Deflectometer (Hourly Rental)
0-8hrs ......................................................$175.00
8-40hrs .....................................................$100.00
40+hrs .......................................................$50.00

Double Ring Infiltrometer ..................................... $50.00
Flow Monitoring Set

Per day ....................................................$105.00
Per week ..................................................$400.00

Geomembrane Tensiometer (per day) .....................$100.00
Grundfos Redi Flow II Pump and Generator

Per day ....................................................$100.00
Per week ..................................................$300.00

Landfill Gas Monitoring Equipment (GEM 500)
Per day ..................................................... $95.00
Per week ..................................................$300.00

Level and Stadia Set ........................................... $25.00
Nuclear Density Gauge (per day) ............................ $30.00

Per month .................................................$300.00
Thin Lift Gauge (per day)......................................$60.00

Per month.................................................$600.00
Peristaltic Sampling Pump

Per day ..................................................... $50.00
Per week ................................................... $90.00

pH-Conductivity Temperature Meter
Per day ..................................................... $40.00
Per week ..................................................$100.00

Photoionization Detector (Mini Rae  / HNU / Microtip)
Per day ....................................................$100.00
Per week ..................................................$300.00

QED Bladder Pump Controller
Per day ..................................................... $50.00
Per week ................................................... $90.00

Safety Equipment
Level D (solvex gloves, disposable suit) ............... $25.00
Level C2 (above plus respirator) ....................... $50.00
Level C1 (above plus chemical suit) ................... $95.00
Level B (above plus SCBA) ..............................$300.00

Sensidyne Monitoring Equipment (does not include tubes) .$15.00
Sediment Coring or Soil Sampling Kit 

(does not include shelby tubes) (per day) ............. $50.00
Torque Wrench (per day) ..................................... $25.00
Turbidity Meter (per day) ..................................... $40.00
Turbidity Meter (per week) ..................................$150.00
UT Thickness Gauge (per day) ............................... $50.00
Well Probe (per day)........................................... $15.00
Well Probe (per week) ........................................ $50.00

For additional information, please contact 425.774.0106.
Bryan Hawkins, PE, for Geotechnical Services (Ext 245, bhawkins@hwageo.com)
Jeff Thompson, LG, LEG, for GeoEnvironmental & Hydrogeology Services (Ext 233, jthompson@hwageo.com)
Jessica Herrera for Laboratory Services (Ext 261, jHerrera@hwageo.com)

STANDARD SCHEDULE OF FEES AND CHARGES (Continued)
All prices are effective January 1, 2016 and are subject to change without notice.









CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA BILL 

City of Black Diamond 
Post Office Box 599 

Black Diamond, WA 98010 
ITEM INFORMATION 

SUBJECT:  
 
Resolution adopting 2017-2022 Capital 
Improvement Plan 

Agenda Date: October 6, 2016                AB16-059 

 Mayor  Carol Benson  

City Administrator   

City Attorney David Linehan  

City Clerk – Brenda L. Martinez  

Com Dev/Nat Res –   

Finance – May Miller X 

MDRT/Ec Dev – Andy Williamson  

Cost Impact (see also Fiscal Note):  Police – Chief Kiblinger  

Fund Source: --Various Public Works – Seth Boettcher  

Timeline: 2017-2022 Court  – Stephanie Metcalf  

   

Agenda Placement:  Mayor   Two Councilmembers  Committee Chair  City Administrator 

Attachments: Resolution; 2017-2022 Capital Improvement Plan Document 

SUMMARY STATEMENT:  
Councilmembers Deady and Edelman have placed this item on the agenda. 
The 2017-2022 update of the cities Capital Improvement Plan began on February 23, 2016, Departments 
developed detailed projects by updating previously scheduled projects or added new Capital Project.  
This includes projections over the next six hear including potential sources of Revenue for each project.  
The process included meetings with Mayor Benson and department directors. 
 
Two workstudy meetings were held with council on August 25, 2016 and September 8, 2016 to review 
each project and source of funding, answer questions and receive comments or updates.  Technical 
changes and additional projects were added as a result of requests by Council at the workstudy 
meetings.  Public Hearing was also held on September 15, 2016 to receive public input.   
 
The 2017-2022 Capital Improvement Plan needs to be adopted by Resolution, so departments can refer 
to this resolution number when they apply for grants noted in the document.  This is a “plan” not a 
budget, The 2017 Capital projects will be reviewed again as part of the 2017 Budget process. 

 
FISCAL NOTE (Finance Department):  The 2017-2022 Capital Improvement Plan totals, $48,039,748 
with 87% covering Public Works projects, 91% of that for Street and Water Capital Projects spanning the 
next six years. 

COUNCIL COMMITTEE REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION: 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: MOTION to adopt Resolution No. (Clerk to assign number 
after adoption) approving the 2017-2022 Capital Improvement Plan. 
 

RECORD OF COUNCIL ACTION 
Meeting Date  Action      Vote 

October 6, 2016   

 



 
RESOLUTION NO.  16-xxxx 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF BLACK DIAMOND, KING COUNTY WASHINGTON, 
ADOPTING A CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN FOR 
THE YEARS 2017-2022  
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Black Diamond is required by State law and Chapter 3.60 of 
the Black Diamond Municipal Code to prepare and adopt a multi-year plan that 
contains the City’s future Capital Improvement Projects and the recommended 
methods of funding those projects; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City’s Capital Improvements Plan has been updated to address the 
current capital facilities needs and priorities of the City for the years 2017-2022; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed the 2017-2022 Capital Improvement Plan 
at their August 25, 2016 and September 8, 2016 Workstudy meetings; and 
 
WHEREAS, the annual update is also annual supplemental information to the  
Capital Element portion of Black Diamond’s Comp Plan for Transportation, Water, 
Sewer, Stormwater and other Capital Elements; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Black Diamond held a public hearing on 
the proposed 2017-2022 Capital Improvement Plan on September 15, 2016;  

NOW, THEREFORE THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND 
HEREBY RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  The City Council does hereby approve the 2017 – 2022 Capital 
Improvements Plan, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “A” and incorporated 
herein by reference.  
 
ADOPTED by the City Council at an open meeting on the    day of  
  , 2016. 
              
      ________________________________ 
      Carol Benson, Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Brenda L. Martinez, City Clerk 
 



 

 

City of Black Diamond, WA 

Capital Improvement Program 

2017 – 2022 

 

 

 

           

 

 

 

October 6, 2016 

bmartinez
Typewritten Text
Exhibit A



               

 

 

 

 

              

                          Table of Contents 

    _________________    

   

     Capital Improvement Program (CIP) 2017-2022 

 

    CIP Overview          1-3 
 

   All Departments Summary  4  
 
   Street Department    5-28 
 
   Water Department    29-36 
 
   Sewer Department       37-43 

 
  Stormwater Department    44-50 
 
  Real Estate Excise Tax 2     51 
 
  Public Works Summary       52-53 
 
  Parks Department       54-61 
 
  Fire Department       62-66 
 
  Police Department     67-72 
 
  General Government Projects    73-79 
 
  Real Estate Excise Tax 1      80 
 
  General Government Summary   81-82 
         
  All Department Summary Chart   83 
 
  CIP Calendar       84 

 
 

 
 



Overview of the Capital Improvement Program 
 
 

What is the Capital Improvement Program? 

The Capital Improvement Program (CIP) is a plan that lays out a six-year road map 
identifying present and future capital and infrastructure needs for the City.  It is an 
investment in the future of our community. 

Because the CIP is a plan rather than a budget, actual authorization for capital project 
spending for the upcoming year occurs when City Council adopts the Annual Budget in 
December.   
 
Having the long range capital plan completed before the annual operating budget is 
developed helps management better incorporate both short and long term planning. 

For each project there is an estimated start and completion date that has been 
projected by the city department in charge of the improvement. The CIP also defines the 
total cost of the project and the amount allocated to the project for each year of the 
plan.    

Examples of projects in Black Diamond’s six-year CIP include street rehabilitation, water 
projects, wastewater facilities, park improvements, a fire station and equipment, police 
capital facility needs, and general facility capital needs and improvement.   

How are projects in the Capital Improvement Plan paid for? 

The CIP process involves balancing desired capital improvements that compete for 
scarce financial resources. Generally, funding for capital improvements is provided 
through grants, impact fees, public trust fund loans, Real Estate Excise Tax revenue 
(REET), capital reserves and developer funding.  

Real estate excise taxes (REET) are collected from property sales within the city limits 
and are earmarked specifically for capital projects.  However in order to spend that 
money, a jurisdiction must have the project identified in a Capital Improvement Plan.  So 
not only is the CIP a great overall planning tool for the City, it is also required in order to 
access REET monies.    
 
Additionally, historical documentation of need is usually required when applying for 
grants.  This need is addressed with the adoption of  the CIP.  
 
 
 
 
 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

1



Types of Capital Projects 

Capital projects are essential to the delivery of many of Black Diamond’s core services.  
The capital projects in each major department are described below. 

 Transportation  The road system in Black Diamond is a vital infrastructure to city 
residents, visitors and commuters.   This infrastructure includes roads, bridges, 
bike lanes and sidewalks.  The responsibility for the funding and construction of 
capacity adding transportation projects is equitably shared with developers.  In 
Black Diamond, the developer of the MPD’s is the primary funder and 
implementer of the capacity adding project to meet the needs of the growing 
community.   The city is seeking grants to address those locations where there is 
existing deficiencies which are City responsibility.   
 

 Parks and Recreation   There are regional and local parks in Black Diamond as 
well as bike and hiking trails, a skate park and a BMX Course.  Outdoor 
enthusiasts choose to live in Black Diamond for the natural beauty of the 
surroundings and sporting opportunities.  Park facility improvements are 
primarily financed by grants, real estate excise taxes and developer 
contributions. 
  

 Utilities  The City provides water, sewer and stormwater utility services to 
residents and businesses.  Capital Facilities include water sources, facilities, 
Reservoir, water lines, sewer treatment facilities, transmission systems and 
storm water detention facilities and culverts.  Developers contribute to these 
projects, as growth requires infrastructure expansion.  Utility fund reserves, 
grants, loans and Real Estate Excise Taxes also provide funding for utility capital 
projects in Black Diamond.  
 

 Public Safety  Capital facilities and equipment are required to deliver core City 
services of Police and Fire.  These facilities include the fire and police stations, 
vehicles and major equipment and technology.  Funding for these capital 
projects largely comes from user fees, grants and some Real Estate Excise Taxes.  
 

 General Capital  The City is responsible for funding the construction and 
maintenance of general capital facilities such as city buildings, vehicles and 
technology.    These costs are usually funded by bond issues, grants or Real 
Estate Excise Taxes.   

Level of Service 

The number and type of capital facilities needed to serve Black Diamond is directly 
related to the level of public service provided.  The level of service is established by City 
Council and the City’s Comprehensive Plan.   

 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

2



 

Maintenance and Funding Constraints 

Once completed and placed in service, capital facilities must be maintained. Funding for 
the maintenance of capital projects for City Utilities are funded with user fees in the 
respective operating budgets.  Maintenance funding for projects are funded through 
current operations, not the capital budget.  For that reason the availability of funding for 
future maintenance must be considered when preparing the capital budget. 

Development and Approval Process 

The Capital Improvement Plan is usually updated annually or every other year.  
Individual projects are submitted by department directors.  They use a template 
provided by Finance staff.  These requests include an update of current projects and 
projections on new projects and anticipated costs.  Each project must have specific 
funding sources identified.  
 
The Mayor, Finance Director and management meet to balance projects to available 
funding.  Council workstudy sessions occur and a public hearing encourages public 
input.  The proposed plan is then brought before Council for approval.  This approved 
CIP then becomes an update and amendment to the capital facility portion of the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan. 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

3



Total  $ 
Project      

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Street Projects 32,419,108      7,528,108      3,851,000      3,810,000      6,660,000       9,100,000      1,470,000 

Water Projects 5,958,000          530,000      2,514,000          371,000          623,000           870,000      1,050,000 

Sewer Projects 1,635,000          160,000          367,000            82,000          422,000             92,000          512,000 

Stormwater Projects 1,867,000            57,000      1,500,000            40,000            50,000                      -            220,000 

Parks Department 936,000                    37,500          124,500            45,000            91,000           343,000          295,000 

Fire Department 4,405,000                          -            365,000                     -            825,000           125,000      3,090,000 

Police Department 478,640                  184,320            34,320          145,000            25,000             25,000            65,000 

General Government 341,000         92,000          50,000          80,000          30,000          59,000           30,000          

TOTAL Projected Expenditures 48,039,748$ 8,588,928$  8,805,820$  4,573,000$  8,726,000$  10,614,000$ 6,732,000$  

All Departments Summary

Capital Improvement Plan 2017 - 2022

Stormwater 
Projects 

$1,867,000  
3.9% 

Sewer Projects 
$1,635,000  

3.4% 

Water Projects, 
$5,958,000 , 

12.4% 

Street Projects, 
$32,419,108 , 

67.5% 

General 
Government 

Admin,  $341,000 
, 0.7% 

Police 
Department,  

$478,640 , 1.0% 

Fire Department,  
$4,405,000 , 9.2% 

Parks 
Department,  

$936,000 , 1.9% 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

4



Street Department (Transportation Projects)
C A P I T A L  P R O J E C T  S U M M A R Y

Summary by Project

 Total    $ 

2017 - 2022 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

T1 General Street Improvement 180,000       30,000          30,000          30,000          30,000          30,000          30,000          

T2 Roberts Drive Road Improvements 1,158,108    1,158,108    -                -                -                -                -                

T3 New Arterial "Annexation Road" 2,900,000    2,900,000    

T4 Lake Sawyer Road Extension 1,800,000    1,800,000    -                -                -                -                -                

T5 224th Guardrail at Covington Creek 25,000         -                25,000          -                -                -                -                

T6 224th Ave SE Asphalt Overlay 300,000       300,000       -                -                -                -                -                

T7 Roberts Roundabout 7,770,000    -                210,000       2,090,000    5,470,000    -                -                

T8 Roberts Drive Rehabilitation Phase 2 170,000       -                170,000       -                -                -                -                

T9 232nd Ave Chip Seal 100,000       100,000       -                -                -                -                -                

T10 Downtown Public Parking 145,000       -                             -                             25,000          120,000       -                             -                             

T11 216th Ave SE Overlay 180,000       -                -                180,000       -                -                -                

T12 Lawson Street Phase 1 165,000       -                -                165,000       -                -                -                

T13 Grant Matching 240,000       40,000          40,000          40,000          40,000          40,000          40,000          

T14 Lawson Street Sidewalk Phase 2 356,000       -                76,000          280,000       -                -                -                

T15 Pedestrian and Bicycle Study 30,000         -                -                -                -                30,000          -                

T16 Lawson Connector 3,200,000    -                3,200,000    -                -                -                -                

T17 Ravensdale - 169 Intersection 1,300,000    200,000       100,000       1,000,000    -                -                -                

T18 North Connector 1,000,000    -                -                -                1,000,000    -                -                

T19 Roberts Dr. Lake Sawyer Rd. Roundabout 1,000,000    1,000,000    -                -                -                -                -                

T20 Ravensdale - 169 Intersection - Permanent 8,000,000    -                -                -                -                8,000,000    -                

T21 Roberts Dr. Annex Road Intersection Imp. 1,000,000    -                -                -                -                1,000,000    -                

T22 216 Ave SE/288th Intersection Improvement 1,400,000    -                -                -                -                -                1,400,000    

32,419,108 7,528,108    3,851,000    3,810,000    6,660,000    9,100,000    1,470,000    

Funding Sources
TIB, CDBG and Other Grants

T2 Roberts Drive Road Improvements 1,079,867    1,079,867    -                -                -                -                -                

T6 224th Ave SE Asphalt Overlay 255,000       255,000       -                -                -                -                -                

T7 Roberts Roundabout 4,235,000    -                -                1,030,000    3,205,000    -                -                

T8 Roberts Drive Rehabilitation Phase 2 144,500       -                144,500       -                -                -                -                

T9 232nd Ave Chip Seal 90,000         90,000          -                -                -                -                -                

T10 Downtown Public Parking 108,000       -                -                -                108,000       -                -                

T11 216th Ave SE Overlay 153,000       -                -                153,000       -                -                -                

T12 Lawson Street Phase 1 148,500       -                -                148,500       -                -                -                

T14 Lawson Street Sidewalk Phase 2 315,000       -                55,000          260,000       -                -                -                

T15 Pedestrian and Bicycle Study 27,000         -                -                -                -                27,000          -                

T20 Ravensdale - 169 Intersection - Permanent 4,000,000    -                -                -                -                4,000,000    -                

10,555,867 1,424,867    199,500       1,591,500    3,313,000    4,027,000    -                

T2 Roberts Drive Road Improvements 52,250         52,250 - - - - - 

T3 New Arterial "Annexation Road" 2,900,000    2,900,000    -                -                -                -                -                

T4 Lake Sawyer Road Extension 1,800,000    1,800,000    -                -                -                -                -                

T7 Roberts Roundabout 3,535,000    -                210,000       1,060,000    2,265,000    -                -                

T14 Lawson Street Sidewalk Phase 2 41,000         -                21,000          20,000          -                -                -                

T16 Lawson Connector 3,200,000    -                3,200,000    -                -                -                -                

T17 Ravensdale - 169 Intersection 1,300,000    200,000       100,000       1,000,000    -                -                -                

T18 North Connector 1,000,000    -                -                -                1,000,000    -                -                

T19 Roberts Dr. Lake Sawyer Rd. Roundabout 1,000,000    1,000,000    -                -                -                -                -                

T20 Ravensdale - 169 Intersection - Permanent 4,000,000    -                -                -                -                4,000,000    -                

T21 Roberts Dr. Annex Road Intersection Imp. 1,000,000    -                -                -                -                1,000,000    -                

T22 216 Ave SE/288th Intersection Improvement 1,400,000    -                -                -                -                -                1,400,000    

21,228,250 5,952,250    3,531,000    2,080,000    3,265,000    5,000,000    1,400,000    

Developer Funded/Impact Fees/SEPA

Total Developer/Impact/SEPA Funding

Project Title

TOTAL ESTIMATED COSTS

 Capital Plan 2017 - 2022 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

5



Street Department (Transportation Projects)
C A P I T A L  P R O J E C T  S U M M A R Y

Summary by Funding, cont.

 Total    $ 

2017 - 2022 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

T1 General Street Improvement 180,000       30,000          30,000          30,000          30,000          30,000          30,000          

T2 Roberts Drive Road Improvements 25,991         25,991          -                -                -                -                -                

T5 224th Guardrail at Covington Creek 25,000         -                25,000          -                -                -                -                

T6 224th Ave SE Asphalt Overlay 45,000         45,000          -                -                -                -                -                

T8 Roberts Drive Rehabilitation Phase 2 25,500         -                25,500          -                -                -                -                

T9 232nd Ave Chip Seal 10,000         10,000          -                -                -                -                -                

T10 Downtown Public Parking 37,000         -                -                25,000          12,000          -                -                

T11 216th Ave SE Overlay 27,000         -                -                27,000          -                -                -                

T12 Lawson Street Phase 1 16,500         -                -                16,500          -                -                -                

T13 Grant Matching 240,000       40,000          40,000          40,000          40,000          40,000          40,000          

T15 Pedestrian and Bicycle Study 3,000           -                -                -                -                3,000            -                

634,991       150,991       120,500       138,500       82,000         73,000         70,000         

TOTAL ESTIMATED FUNDING SOURCES 32,419,108 7,528,108    3,851,000    3,810,000    6,660,000    9,100,000    1,470,000    

Total REET 2 Funding

Real Estate Excise Tax 2 Funding or Grant Matching 

 Capital Plan 2017 - 2022 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

6



T1

13.10

DESCRIPTION                         

BACKGROUND                                

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $    

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Construction Costs         180,000         30,000         30,000         30,000         30,000         30,000         30,000 

TOTAL COSTS         180,000         30,000         30,000         30,000         30,000         30,000         30,000 

REQUESTED FUNDING

Real Estate Excise Tax 2         180,000         30,000         30,000         30,000         30,000         30,000         30,000 

TOTAL SOURCES         180,000         30,000         30,000         30,000         30,000         30,000         30,000 

             Street Department

            General Street Improvement

     Light Street Maintenance. Annually the Public Works staff assesses the street system and 

selects key street preservation and improvement work.  Typical activities under this project 

are chip sealing, crack sealing, patch work and addressing minor safety problems.

     This project provides annual funding for minor street improvements that typically do not 

require engineering.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

7



T2

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Construction Engineering 20,000        20,000        

Management & Administration 97,187        97,187        

Construction Costs 1,040,921  1,040,921  

TOTAL COSTS 1,158,108  1,158,108  -             -             -            -              -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Grants TIB 1,079,867  1,079,867  

Developer Mitigation 52,250        52,250        

Street Funds (REET 2) 20,226        20,226        

Grant Match 5,765          5,765          

TOTAL SOURCES 1,158,108  1,158,108  -             -             -            -              -              

     Street Reconstruction. This project combines the Roberts Drive Bridge project and 

half of the Roberts Drive Roadway Rehab into a more complete roadway reconstruction 

with sidewalks on the south side, pavement overlay, bridge rehabilitation, stormwater 

improvements and street lights from 100 feet west of the Rock Creek Bridge to City Hall.

     The City was successful in obtaining a Road Reconstruction Grant which was 

combined with a previous grant for one bigger project. The project was on hold to 

resolve utility and environmental issues but now looks on schedule to be under 

construction in the summer of 2017.  

                      Street Department

                     Roberts Drive Improvements

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

8



T3

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Design Engineering 500,000     500,000     

Construction Costs 2,400,000  2,400,000  

TOTAL COSTS 2,900,000  2,900,000  -             -             -            -              -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Developer Funded 2,900,000  2,900,000  

TOTAL SOURCES 2,900,000  2,900,000  -             -             -            -              -              

      New Arterial "Annexation Road"

     Capacity Adding Project. This project provides a link from the initial phases of the 

Villages development to the City street network and a future link to the "pipeline" road. 

                     Street Department

     This project is in keeping with the City's approved Future Street Network according to 

the City's comprehensive plan. This project is planned to be designed and constructed by 

the developer.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

9



T4

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Design Engineering 300,000 300,000

Construction Costs 1,500,000 1,500,000  

TOTAL COSTS 1,800,000 9,000,000  -              -             -            -              -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Developer Funded 1,800,000 1,800,000

TOTAL SOURCES 1,800,000 1,800,000  -              -             -            -              -              

       Lake Sawyer Road Extension

     Capacity Adding Project. This project provides a link from the initial phases of the 

Villages development to the City street network. 

     This project is in keeping with the City's approved Future Street Network according to 

the City's comprehensive plan.  This project is planned to be designed and constructed 

by the developer. 

                      Street Department

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

10



T5

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Management & Administration 2,500 2,500

Construction Costs 22,500 22,500

TOTAL COSTS 125,000 -              25,000       -            -            -              -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Real Estate Excise Tax 2 25,000 25,000

TOTAL SOURCES 25,000 -              25,000       -            -            -              -              

      224th Guardrail @ Cov Creek

                      Street Department

     Safety Project. This safety project is to install guard rail on both sides of the road at 

the Covington Creek culverts on 224th Ave SE.  This project could be combined with the 

replacement of the stormwater Project Culvert Replacement at Covington Creek, D2. 

     Staff and the committee determined that guard rails at Covington Creek would 

provide a greater risk reduction for errant vehicles than the Abrams project was 

dropped and priorities shifted. 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

11



T6

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Design Engineering 10,000        10,000        

Management & Administration 20,000        20,000        

Construction Costs 270,000      270,000     

TOTAL COSTS 300,000      300,000     -             -             -            -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Grants TIB 255,000      255,000     

Grant Match 45,000        45,000        

TOTAL SOURCES 300,000      300,000     -             -             -            -              -              

                   Street Department

   224th Ave SE Asphalt Overlay

     Major Street Maintenance. Overlay 224th Ave SE from Covington Creek to 307th 

Place.   

     Public Works staff in cooperation with Maple Valley and Covington sealed the many 

cracks in 224th Ave SE in 2013 to preserve the integrity of the road until we could get a 

grant to overlay the street.  The crack sealing has been effective in holding the street 

together and maintaining the pavement rating to stay in the TIB street preservation 

funding program.  

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

12



T7

13.02

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Land/Right of Way 300,000     300,000    

Preliminary Engineering 200,000     200,000    

Environ Engr & Permitting 300,000     300,000    

Construction Engineering 600,000     600,000    

Bid Documents 50,000        50,000       

Design Engineering 700,000     700,000    

Construction Costs 4,965,000  350,000    4,615,000 

Environ Mitigation 300,000     300,000    

Management / Admin 355,000     10,000       90,000       255,000    

TOTAL COSTS 7,770,000  -             210,000    2,090,000 5,470,000 -             -             

REQUESTED FUNDING -              

Developer Funded 3,535,000  210,000    1,060,000 2,265,000 

Grants 4,235,000  1,030,000 3,205,000 

TOTAL SOURCES 7,770,000  -             210,000    2,090,000 5,470,000 -             -             

                              Street Department

                               Roberts Roundabout

     The developer's initial mitigation improvements for this intersection will be 

realignment and signal improvements.  As traffic grows and the needs increase the 

chances of receiving grant funding will improve.  Once the preliminary engineering is 

complete the City will be prepared to begin applying for grants. 

     Capacity Adding Project. This project is to change the intersection control from stop 

control to a roundabout or signal and accommodate a future road connection to the 

east for the Lawson Hills Master Planned Development.

     The existing intersection has a higher accident rate than the average along the 

corridor. Roberts Drive intersects SR 169 at an unconventional angle which makes it 

difficult for east bound motorists to turn left and west bound motorists on Ravensdale 

to turn left; This intersection has been identified as one of the first traffic mitigation 

projects that is required in the Master Planned Development FEIS.  However this 

project will be accomplished in phases as the City grows.  If the City were able to 

secure adequate funding soon then the City could move forward with a comprehensive 

ultimate traffic solution for the Roberts Drive and Ravensdale intersections. 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

13



T8

14.02

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

-              

Design & Bid Docs 35,000       35,000        

Management & Inspection 15,000       15,000        

Construction 120,000     120,000      

TOTAL COSTS 170,000     -              170,000     -              -              -              -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Grant Matching 25,500       25,500        

Grants 144,500     144,500      

TOTAL SOURCES 170,000     -              170,000     -              -              -              -              
End of library to City Hall

            Street Department

             Roberts Drive Rehabilitation Phase 2

    Major Street Maintenance from Morgan Street to the sidewalk end past the Library 

(1600 ft.). Patch and Replace concrete panels; Seal joints and cracks;  Plane the concrete to 

a smooth surface; Widen shoulders.   

     The concrete roadway is about 100 years old but needs repair work. This project is to 

repair and preserve the existing road.  

     This section of Roberts Drive is in fair condition with some bad spots.  Sidewalks curb 

and street lights have already been installed on a pedestrian grant.  Going further east 

from this project would make more sense to go after total reconstruction funding and 

upgrade to urban standards.  

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

14



T9

14.03

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Design Engineering 10,000 10,000         

Management and Admin 10,000 10,000         

Construction 80,000 80,000         

TOTAL COSTS 100,000 100,000      -             -             -            -              -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Grants 90,000 90,000

Grant Matching 10,000 10,000

TOTAL SOURCES 100,000 100,000      -             -             -            -              -              

     Major Street Maintenance. Patch and Chip Seal 232nd Ave. SE from SE 288th Street to 

the back of the Pond at Greenbrier. 

     This section of roadway can be preserved by 7 to 10 years at one third of the cost of an 

overlay.  A chip seal will help stretch the grant funding and help the City get ahead of the 

curve with deteriorating streets. 

                 Street Department

                  232nd Ave. SE Chip Seal

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

15



T10

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Land/Right of Way 60,000 60,000
Preliminary Engineering 10,000 10,000
Design Engineering 10,000 10,000
Management and Admin 5,000 5,000
Construction 60,000 60,000    

TOTAL COSTS 145,000 -              -        25,000  120,000  -        -        

REQUESTED FUNDING 0
Grants 108,000 108,000
Real Estate Excise Tax 2 25,000 25,000
Grant Matching 12,000 12,000
Other (Specify) 0

TOTAL SOURCES 145,000 -              -        25,000  120,000  -        -        

                 Street Department

                 Downtown Public Parking 
     Develop additional public parking in the downtown area of Baker Street 

and Railroad Ave. 

     Most of the existing buildings in the Railroad Ave area were constructed 

without off street parking lots other than the Eagles Hall. This area is zoned 

"Town Center" which does not require off street parking with the 

development of the property.  There currently is a deficiency in available 

parking to support the existing businesses.   The cope of this project will be 

refined in the initial preliminary engineering phase.  In the preliminary 

phase of this project the City will rebiew the cost and benefit of creating 

additional on street parking, expanginding the use of city owned right of 

way in the area, negotiating with owner of undeveloped property and / or 

purchasing additional property in the area.       

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

16



T11

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Engineering & Bid Docs 20,000      20,000      

Management & Admin 15,000      15,000      

Construction 145,000    145,000    

TOTAL COSTS 180,000    -             -             180,000    -             -             -             

REQUESTED FUNDING

TIB Pavement Preservation 153,000    153,000    

Grant Matching 27,000      27,000      

TOTAL SOURCES 180,000    -             -             180,000    -             -             -             

     Major Street Maintenance. Patch and overlay 216th Ave. SE from SE 288th St. to 

SE 296th St.

                  Street Department

                  216th Avenue SE Overlay

     The pavement condition is average to poor.  The roadway width and side 

improvements vary.  The engineering, bid process, inspections and project 

management will be provided by City staff.  This is a heavy traffic area project. 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

17



T12

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Engineering & Bid Docs 20,000       20,000      

Management & Admin 15,000       15,000      

Construction 130,000    130,000    

TOTAL COSTS 165,000    -             -             165,000    -             -             -             

REQUESTED FUNDING

TIB Pavement Preservation 148,500    148,500    

Grant Matching 16,500       16,500      

TOTAL SOURCES 165,000    -             -             165,000    -             -             -             

     Major Street Maintenance. Surface grinding; some panel replacement and 

shoulder widening from SR 169 to Newcastle Dr.

     The pavement condition is average to poor.  The roadway width is a little to narrow 

with no shoulders.  The engineering, bid process, inspections and project 

management will be provided by City staff. 

               Lawson Street Ph. 1

               Street Department

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

18



T13

13.03

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Funding to Match Grants 240,000    40,000      40,000      40,000      40,000      40,000      40,000      

TOTAL COSTS 240,000    40,000      40,000      40,000      40,000      40,000      40,000      

REQUESTED FUNDING -            

Real Estate Excise Tax 2 240,000    40,000      40,000      40,000      40,000      40,000      40,000      

TOTAL SOURCES 240,000    40,000      40,000      40,000      40,000      40,000      40,000      

     This project is used to accumulate funds for a match for grants for street and 

pedestrian projects now scheduled on the CIP. 

     The City has used this fund for professional technical assistance with grant 

applications and supplement funding if a grant is received for a project that needs to 

be moved up in the CIP schedule or if a larger match than anticipated is needed.  

                Street Department

                 Grant Matching Fund

What is a matching grant? 
                                                                                                                  

A matching grant is a contingent grant awarded only if the 

receiving entity is able to put up (or independently raise) a 

sum equal to the amount provided by the granting entity.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

19



T14

13.5

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Land/Right of Way 10,000 10,000

Design Engineering 61,000 61,000

Mgmt & Admin 15,000 5,000 10,000

Construction Costs 270,000 270,000     

TOTAL COSTS 356,000 -               76,000        280,000     -              -              -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Safe Rt to School Grant 165,000 55,000 110,000

TIB Pedestrian Grant 150,000 150,000

Dev/Impact Fees/SEPA 41,000 21,000        20,000       

TOTAL SOURCES 356,000      -               76,000        280,000     -              -              -              

     Pedestrian Project. Construct 1015 feet of new 5 foot concrete sidewalk on the north 

side of Lawson Street to from Sixth Avenue to the east boundary of Lawson Hill Estates. 

This project does not include curb gutter or street widening.  

     Lawson Hill Estates and the surrounding area is within 1 mile of the elementary school 

on Baker Street.  The City is partnering with the School District to seek Safe Routes to 

School grants for this project.  It is anticipated that additional funding will be needed to 

cover the entire cost.  Transportation Improvement Board Funding and or potentially MPD 

mitigation funding may also be available. The City and the School District are planning to 

cooperate and jointly apply for this grant in 2017 for funding in 2018 and 2019.

     The timing of this project may have to wait for the pedestrian mitigation assistance from 

the Lawson Hills developer for this project.  Other grant funding may also be available to 

complete the total funding. 

                 Street Department

                Lawson Street Sidewalk Phase 2

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

20



T15

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Preliminary Engineering 10,000 10,000

Design Engineering 20,000       20,000        

TOTAL COSTS 30,000       -              -              -              -              30,000       

REQUESTED FUNDING

Grant Match 3,000         3,000          

Pedestrian Grant 27,000       27,000        

TOTAL SOURCES 30,000       -              -              -              -              30,000       -              

       Downtown Pedestrian  and Bicycle Linkages Study

     Pedestrian Project:  This study will identify the best routes for pedestrians and bicycles 

to connect to the north and south of the old downtown area and identify right of way 

acquisition if needed.  

     The existing right of way for the state route is inadequate for widening to 

accommodate additional lanes along with pedestrian and bicycles.  The study will 

investigate various bypass routes and key connection points,  and provide opportunities 

for public input. Once the City has approved a pedestrian and bicycle plan for the 

downtown area the City will be in a better position to seek funding for these important 

alternative mode connections. 

                     Street Department

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

21



T16

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Design Engineering 600,000     600,000     

Construction Costs 2,600,000  2,600,000  

TOTAL COSTS 3,200,000  -              3,200,000 -             -            -              -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Developer Funded 3,200,000  3,200,000  

TOTAL SOURCES 3,200,000  -              3,200,000 -             -            -              -              

COMMENTS

               Street Department

                Lawson Connector

     Capacity Adding Project. This project provides a new connection from East Black 

Diamond to SR 169 west of the narrow section of through old downtown.  The new road 

will primarily serve the Lawson Hills Master Planned Development.

     This important additional street connection will help distribute traffic and increase 

local capacity as well as preserve the existing capacity on Lawson street and the 

downtown corridor on SR 169.  This project was added to the future street network 

planning in the 2009 comprehensive plan update. 

     The timing of this project is tied to the Lawson Hills MPD initial phases.  This project is 

planned to be designed and constructed by the developer.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

22



T17

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Design Engineering 200,000 200,000

Management & Administration 100,000 100,000

Construction Costs 1,000,000 1,000,000

TOTAL COSTS 1,300,000 200,000     100,000     1,000,000  -            -              -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Developer Funded 1,300,000 200,000 100,000 1,000,000

TOTAL SOURCES 1,300,000 200,000     100,000     1,000,000  -            -              -              

                BD-Ravensdale Rd/Roberts Drive /SR 169 Interim Intersection Improve.

                Street Department

Capacity Adding Project. This project will meet existing Level of Service deficiency, near 

term future capacity needs and address safety issues at these two intersections.

     If the City is able to obtain significant grant funding in the next couple of years (once 

the population exceeds 5,000), the City may be able to move forward with a better long 

term comprehensive solution for these two intersections.  This initial interim project does 

not replace the ultimate plan for these intersections but it will give the City more time to 

obtain the funding for a more comprehensive solution. 

     This project is planned to be designed and constructed by the developer.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

23



T18

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Design Engineering 225,000 225,000

Construction Costs 775,000 775,000

TOTAL COSTS 1,000,000 -              -             1,000,000  -              -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Developer Funded 1,000,000 1,000,000

TOTAL SOURCES 1,000,000 -              -             -             1,000,000  -              -              

     Capacity Adding Project. This project provides a link from the North Triangle area of 

Lawson Hill MPD and the Villages MPD to SR 169 and a future link to the "pipeline" road. 

     This project is consistent with the City's Future Road Network Plan in the City's 

Comprehensive Plan

              Street Department

             North Connector

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

24



T19

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Design Engineering 225,000      225,000     

Construction Costs 775,000      775,000     

TOTAL COSTS 1,000,000   1,000,000  -             -             -              -              -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Developer funded 1,000,000   1,000,000  

TOTAL SOURCES 1,000,000   1,000,000  -             -             -              -              -              

           Roberts Dr/Lake Sawyer Rd Extension Roundabout

         Street Department

     Capacity Adding Project. This project will provide intersection capacity as needed for 

the Villages MPD.

     This project is consistent with the City's Future Road Network Plan in the City's 

Comprehensive Plan

     This project is planned to be designed and constructed by the developer.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

25



T20

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Design Engineering 1,500,000 1,500,000  

Construction Costs 6,500,000 6,500,000  

TOTAL COSTS 8,000,000 -              -              -             -            8,000,000  0

REQUESTED FUNDING

Developer Funded 4,000,000 4,000,000

TIB Federal Grant Matching 4,000,000 4,000,000

TOTAL SOURCES 0

8,000,000 -              -              -             -            8,000,000  -              

     Capacity Adding Project. This project realigns Ravensdale Road further to the north 

providing a functional distance between the next major intersection to the south 

(Roberts Drive)  The intersection capacity will be increased by either a larger signalized 

intersection or a roundabout. Road right of way will need to be acquired. 

     This project is in keeping with the City's adopted Future Roadway Network as part of 

the City's Comprehensive Plan.  Once the City is over 5000 in population, the City will be 

eligible for larger grants for larger projects such as this.   

     This project is planned to be designed and constructed by the developer.

               BD-Ravensdale Rd/SR 169 Permanent Intersection Imp.

              Street Department

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

26



T21

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Design Engineering 250,000     250,000      

Construction Costs 750,000     750,000      

TOTAL COSTS 1,000,000  -              -              -             -            1,000,000  -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Developer Funded 1,000,000  1,000,000  

TOTAL SOURCES 1,000,000  -              -              -             -            1,000,000  -              

     Capacity Adding Project. This project will provide intersection capacity to serve the 

Villages MPD.

     This project is consistent with the City's Comprehensive Plan and the Future Road 

Network plan therein.

     This project is planned to be designed and constructed by the developer.

           Roberts Dr/Annexation Road Intersection Improvements

           Street Department

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

27



T22

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Design Engineering 300,000      300,000      

Construction Costs 1,100,000  1,100,000  

TOTAL COSTS 1,400,000  -              -              -             -            -              1,400,000  

REQUESTED FUNDING

Developer Funded 1,400,000  1,400,000  

TOTAL SOURCES 1,400,000  -              -              -             -            -              1,400,000  

              Street Department

              216th Ave SE/SE 288th St Intersection Improvements

     Capacity Adding Project. This project will provide intersection capacity for growth 

within the City of Black Diamond. 

     This project is consistent with the City's Comprehensive Plan and the Future Road 

Network Plan therein. 

     This project is planned to be designed and constructed by the developer.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

28



Summary by Project

Total $ 2017 

- 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

W1 4.3 Mil Gal Tank Maintenance and Repair 30,000         30,000       -                -            -            -             -                

W2 Springs & Transmission Reconstruction 2,956,000   465,000     2,491,000     -            -            -             -                

W3 Water Comprehensive Plan Update 30,000         30,000       -                -            -            -             -                

W4 Salmon Enhancement & Green Energy 1,392,000   -              -                77,000      55,000      210,000    1,050,000    

W5 Asbestos Water Main Replacement Prgm 535,000       5,000         3,000            99,000      428,000    -             -                

W6 0.5 MG Water Reservoir Recoat 215,000       -              20,000          195,000    -            -             -                

W7 Fire Flow Loop - North Commercial Area 800,000       -              -                -            140,000    660,000    -                

5,958,000   530,000     2,514,000    371,000   623,000   870,000    1,050,000    

Funding Sources -               

Water Reserves and Rates -               

W1 4.3 Mil Gal Tank Maintenance and Repair 30,000         30,000       -                -            -            -             -                

W3 Water Comprehensive Plan Update 30,000         30,000       -                -            -            -             -                

W5 Asbestos Water Main Replacement Prgm 59,000         5,000         3,000            9,000        42,000      -             -                

W7 Fire Flow Loop - North Commercial Area 400,000       -              -                -            70,000      330,000    -                

Total Water Reserves & Rates 519,000      65,000       3,000            9,000        112,000   330,000    -               

Water System & Facilities Funding Agmt (WSFFA)

W2 Springs & Transmission Reconstruction 2,956,000   465,000     2,491,000     -            -            -             -                

Total WSFFA Funds 2,956,000   465,000     2,491,000    -            -            -             -               

-               

W4 Salmon Mitigation (Salmon Enhancement) 540,000       -              -                -            -            -             540,000       

W4 Green Energy (Salmon Enhancement) 550,000       -              -                -            40,000      -             510,000       

W5 CDBG Grant (Asbestos Replacement Prgm) 476,000       -              -                90,000      386,000    -             -                

Total Grant Funding 1,566,000   -             -                90,000      426,000   -             1,050,000    

Loans

W4 PWTF Loan (Salmon Enhancement) 302,000       -              -                77,000      15,000      210,000    -                

W6 PWTF Loan (0.5 MG Water Reservoir Recoat) 215,000       -              20,000          195,000    -            -             -                

Total PWTF Loan 517,000      -                        20,000     272,000       15,000      210,000                    -   

W7 Fire Flow Loop - North Commercial Area 400,000       -              -                -            70,000      330,000    -                

Total Developer Funding 400,000      -             -                -            70,000      330,000    -               

5,958,000         530,000      2,514,000     371,000     623,000      870,000     1,050,000 

   Water Department
   C A P I T A L  P R O J E C T  S U M M A R Y

TOTAL ESTIMATED FUNDING SOURCES

Project Title

TOTAL ESTIMATED COSTS

Developer Funding

Grant Funding

Capital Plan 2017 - 2022

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

29



W1

14.11

DESCRIPTION

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

                 -                     -                  -                  -                  -                  -   
Water Tank Maintenance 30,000       30,000     

TOTAL COSTS 30,000       30,000     -               -           -           -           

-                     

REQUESTED FUNDING -                     

Water Rates 30,000       30,000     

TOTAL SOURCES 30,000       30,000     -               -           -           -           -           

 Newly constructed       August 2016

         Water Department

                4.3 Mil Gal Tank Maintenance & Repairs

     The 4.3 million gallon water tank will be 10 years old in 2016.  The tank will need 

be drained and any and all spots of corrosion or paint damage will need to be spot 

treated to help preserve the over all inside and exterior coatings.  

     This project while it is a maintenance project does extend the life of the coating 

by about 5 to 10 years and therefore is included in this Capital Improvement Plan

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

30



W2

13.06

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $     

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Easement/water right transfer        300,000        150,000       150,000                 -                   -                   -   

Road/bldg imp.          30,000         30,000                 -                   -                   -   

Preliminary Engineering          80,000           80,000                  -                   -                   -                   -   

Design Engineering        180,000        180,000                  -                   -                   -                   -   

Management / Admin        105,000           55,000         50,000                 -                   -                   -   

Construction Costs     2,251,000   2,251,000                 -                   -                   -   

Legal Fees          10,000         10,000 

TOTAL COSTS    2,956,000        465,000   2,491,000                 -                   -                   -                   -   

REQUESTED FUNDING                   -   

Water Supply & Fac. Fnd Agrmt.     2,956,000        465,000   2,491,000 

TOTAL SOURCES    2,956,000        465,000   2,491,000                 -                   -                   -                   -   

                        Water Department

                    Springs & Transmission Reconstruction (WSFFA)

     The concept to rehabilitate the City's water source has shifted from A (trying to 

protect and rehabilitate the existing open springs, replacing pipes over the steep slope, 

and reconstructing the river crossing) to B (tapping an artesian spring on the north side 

of the river, changing the water right point of withdrawal, and securing an easement 

from State Parks.  Common to both options are a new pumping system,  an updated 

chlorine system, and replacing the transmission main back to Black Diamond. 

     In late 2013, the City contracted with RH2 to study and compare two alternative 

concepts to improve and redevelop the springs to full water right capacity.  The Springs 

Alternative Analysis Study recommended that the City pursue tapping an artesian 

spring on the north side of the river rather than reconstructing the more vulnerable 

and more complicated spring collection system on the south side.  City staff and the 

Public Works Committee and Council at a CIP workshop agreed with this 

recommendation because of the lower maintenance, higher reliability, lower risks to 

employees, and a better protected water supply.  
     This is a capacity and system reliability project funded by the Water Supply and  

Facilities Funding Agreement (WSFFA).

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

31



W3

14.12

DESCRIPTION

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Management / Administration 5,000          5,000       

In house engineering 5,000          5,000       

Public hearings/edits/approval 20,000       20,000     -              

TOTAL COSTS 30,000       30,000     -               -           -           -           

REQUESTED FUNDING -              

Water Reserves and Rates 30,000       30,000     

-              

TOTAL SOURCES 30,000       30,000     -               -           -           -           -           

            Water Department

               Water Comprehensive Plan Update

     The Department of Health requires an update of the Water Comprehensive Plan 

every 6 years.  The City was due to update the Water Comprehensive Plan in 2015.  

     The Public Works Department work load and staffing level has held up the update 

the Water Comprehensive Plan. A portion of the work was intended to be done in 

house with assistance from an outside consultant for water system modeling and 

system mapping.  The City staff also needs time to guide and direct the planning 

effort.  

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

32



W4

14.09

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Preliminary Engineering 70,000          70,000      

Permit and Partnership Dev 50,000          50,000      

Engineering 200,000        200,000    

Project Management 72,000          7,000        5,000        10,000      50,000         

Construction Costs 1,000,000    1,000,000    

TOTAL COSTS 1,392,000    -               -               77,000      55,000      210,000    1,050,000    

REQUESTED FUNDING -                 
Grant Funding -                 
Grant (Salmon mitigation) 540,000        540,000       
Grant (Green Energy) 550,000        40,000      510,000       

Total Grant Funding -                 
Loans -                 
PWTF Loan 302,000        77,000      15,000      210,000    

TOTAL SOURCES 1,392,000    -               77,000      55,000      210,000    1,050,000    

                    Water Department

                         Salmon Enhancement & Green Energy

     Replace the turbine, with a new larger turbine, electrical generator and connections to 

the power grid.  The inlet pipe and spring overflow pipes needs to be replaced and 

upsized.  The outlet discharge pipe needs to be replaced. 

     This project will provide a source of green energy, prevent south bank erosion, reduce 

the risk of landslides into the Green River, reduce turbidity in the Green River and protect 

the stability of the springs collection sites.  The City hopes to partner with an 

environmental group or a local tribe for the construction of a salmon spawning bed with 

the cool clean discharge water from the power generation.  

     The City is considering a simpler, easier to maintain water source on the north side of 

the Green River. See project W1.  The transfer of the springs water right to an artesian 

spring on the north side of the river separates the need for the turbine pumping of south 

spring water across the river and therefore separates the obligation from the Water Supply 

and Facilities Funding Partners.  However the benefit to the City of potentially generating 

revenue to keep water rates down and producing clean green power is still available to the 

City.  The possibility of grant funding for the project looks very strong.  If debt is incurred it 

will be repaid by energy savings.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

33



W5

17.13

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Income survey/ CDBG application 8,000          5,000       3,000           

Preliminary Engineering 20,000        -               20,000    -           -           

Engineering, Design, Bid Docs 70,000        -               70,000    -           -           

Management / Administration 19,000        -               9,000       10,000    -           -           

Construction 380,000      380,000  

Contingency 38,000        38,000    

TOTAL COSTS 535,000     5,000      3,000           99,000    428,000  -           -           

REQUESTED FUNDING
KC CDBG Grant 476,000      90,000    386,000  
REET or Grant Matching Funds 59,000        5,000       3,000           9,000       42,000    

TOTAL SOURCES 535,000     5,000      3,000           99,000    428,000  -           -           

     This project will improve fire flows to the Morganville area and replace 

substandard pipe that is nearing its useful performance life.  An income survey will 

be required to determine eligibility for Community Development Block Grant 

Funding.

     Further future study of the existing asbestos water mains may show that a 

different asbestos water main should be replaced than this particular water main.  

Leak history, street reconstruction projects, pavement condition, developer 

improvements and asbestos pipe strength tests may change the priority of the 

asbestos pipe to be replaced. 

               Water Department

               Asbestos Water Main Replacement Program

     Replace  4 inch and 6 inch asbestos water main on Morgan Drive from Roberts 

Drive to the north end of Morgan Drive, east to Union and then south 350 feet to 

the existing ductile iron pipe. 1600 feet. 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

34



W6

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Design Engineering & Bid Docs 20,000       20,000         -           -           -           

Specialty Inspection 10,000       -               10,000     -           -           

Tank Painting 180,000     -               180,000   -           -           

Project Management 5,000          5,000       

TOTAL COSTS 215,000     -           20,000        195,000   -           -           -           

REQUESTED FUNDING

PWTF Loan or other 215,000     20,000         195,000   

TOTAL SOURCES 215,000     -           20,000        195,000   -           -           -           

                  Water Department

                0.5 MG Water Reservoir Recoat
     Repaint the 0.5 MG reservoir inside and out.

     The City drained and inspected the interior of the water tank in 2015.  The 

interior coating has deteriorated to a point where total replacement is needed.  If 

the developer were to move forward with development above this reservoir, it 

would be cheaper with lower operational cost to rebuild the storage capacity up 

above with the new reservoir that will be needed at a higher elevation. However the 

lower reservoir would need to last until the higher one is built.  

      This project has been deferred to 2019.  In 2018 The City will reassess the tank 

condition, and the development schedule and make a decision to defer the project 

for a few more years or move forward  and paint the tank and preserve it. If the City 

makes a decision to move forward the staff should seek PWTF loan if available. 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

35



W7

13.08

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Management / Administration 30,000          30,000       

Permitting, easements, legal 30,000          30,000       

Engineering 80,000          80,000       

Construction Costs 660,000        660,000     

TOTAL COSTS 800,000       -             -               140,000    660,000    -             

REQUESTED FUNDING

Water Fund Reserves 400,000        70,000       330,000     

Developer Mitigation 400,000        70,000       330,000     

TOTAL SOURCES 800,000       -             -               140,000    660,000    -             

                Water Department

                 Fire Flow Loop - North Commercial Area

     Replace 200 feet of 4 inch asbestos concrete with 12 inch ductile iron water main 

across SR 169 at the power substation; Complete a 750 foot 12 inch ductile iron water 

main loop from Cedar Brook Mobile Home Park to the 6 inch asbestos water main behind 

Boots Tavern.  Replace 1200 feet of 8 inch asbestos water main on the west side of SR 

169 from Ravensdale Road north to the existing 12 inch ductile iron water main.  2150 

feet of 12 inch water in total.  
     This is a capacity and system reliability project.  Other commercial properties 

development along SR-169 may also be contributing or constructing portions of this 

project, if required through SEPA.  This project can easily be phased if funding is short. 

     This project does not describe what is needed to provide fire flow and redundant 

service to the north triangle but rather is the minimum to provide a looped system for the 

north part of the existing city system.  If OakPointe commercial development in the North 

Triangle moves forward, the water line looping required for that new development will 

provide an outside loop for this area and therefore lower the priority of the project.  The 

pipe replacement issues however would remain.  

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

36



Summary By Project

 Total    $ 

2017 - 2022 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

S1 Upgrade Utility Staff Facilities 59,000               59,000                -                  -                  -                  -                  -   

S2 Infiltration and Inflow Reduction 150,000            25,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       25,000 

S3 Cedarbrook Sewer Main 330,000            35,000     295,000                -                  -                  -                  -   

S4 Materials Handling Facility 360,000                     -                  -         10,000     350,000                -                  -   

S5 Morganville Force Main Reroute 460,000                     -                  -                  -                  -         20,000     440,000 

S6 Equipment Replacement 282,000            47,000       47,000       47,000       47,000       47,000       47,000 

1,641,000   166,000   367,000   82,000     422,000   92,000     512,000   
S6 Replace Old Lawson Lift Station #REF! #REF! #REF! #REF! #REF!
Funding Sources

-               

S3 Cedarbrook Sewer Main 330,000            35,000     295,000                -                  -                  -                  -   
S5 Morganville Force Main Reroute 440,000                     -                  -                  -                  -                  -       440,000 

Total PWTF Funding 770,000            35,000     295,000                -                  -                  -       440,000 

S4 Materials Handling Facility 300,000                     -                  -                  -       300,000                -                  -   
Total Grants 300,000                     -                  -                  -       300,000                -                  -   

S1 Upgrade Utility Staff Facilities 29,000               29,000                -                  -                  -                  -                  -   

S2 Infiltration and Inflow Reduction 150,000            25,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       25,000 

S4 Materials Handling Facility 12,000                        -                  -           2,000       10,000                -                  -   

S5 Morganville Force Main Reroute 20,000                        -                  -                  -                  -         20,000                -   

S6 Equipment Replacement 60,000               10,000       10,000       10,000       10,000       10,000       10,000 

Total Sewer Reserves 271,000            64,000       35,000       37,000       45,000       55,000       35,000 

S1 Upgrade Utility Staff Facilities 30,000               30,000                -                  -                  -                  -                  -   

S4 Materials Handling Facility 48,000                        -                  -           8,000       40,000                -                  -   

S6 Equipment Replacement 222,000            37,000       37,000       37,000       37,000       37,000       37,000 

Total Contributions from Other Departments 300,000            67,000       37,000       45,000       77,000       37,000       37,000 

TOTAL ESTIMATED FUNDING SOURCES 1,641,000       166,000     367,000       82,000     422,000       92,000     512,000 

DEBT SERVICE

S3 Cedarbrook Sewer Main 69,270                        -         13,854       13,854       13,854       13,854       13,854 

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE          69,270                -         13,854       13,854       13,854       13,854       13,854 

Project Title

Capital Plan 2017 - 2022

Contributions from other Departments

Grants

TOTAL ESTIMATED COSTS

Sewer Reserves

PWTF Loan Funding

   Sewer Department
     C A P I T A L  P R O J E C T  S U M M A R Y

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

37



S1
   Sewer Department

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
 Total $ 

2017 - 2022 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

In house design & permitting 1,000          1,000        

Remodel costs 14,000       14,000     

Fencing costs 39,000       39,000     

Management / Administration 5,000          5,000        

TOTAL COSTS 59,000       59,000                    -                  -                  -                  -                  -   

REQUESTED FUNDING -              

Water Department 10,000       10,000     

Street Department 10,000       10,000     

Stormwater Department 10,000       10,000     

Sewer Funds. 29,000       29,000     

TOTAL SOURCES 59,000       59,000     -            -            -            -            

     Staff has one small bathroom that is too small to change clothes, needs more 

room for gear storage, need a place to wash down when they get too muddy or 

contaminated from various materials in the course of their work.  This project is 

being charged primarily to sewer as the need to shower and clean up is usually 

related to sewer work.  The other major need is for fencing around the Public 

Works Facility for safety and security reasons.  

            Sewer Department

              Upgrade Facilities Staff Facility

     Provide locker room, boot / rain / safety gear room, shower and cleanup 

facility.  Install security fencing around the facility with automated gates. 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

38



S2
     C A P I T A L  P R O J E C T  S U M M A R Y

13.10

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
 Total    $ 

2017 - 2022 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Management / Administration 30,000        5,000        5,000        5,000        5,000        5,000        5,000        

Design & Construction 120,000      20,000      20,000      20,000      20,000      20,000      20,000      

TOTAL COSTS 150,000      25,000      25,000      25,000      25,000      25,000      25,000      

REQUESTED FUNDING

Sewer Reserve 150,000      25,000      25,000      25,000      25,000      25,000      25,000      

TOTAL SOURCES 150,000      25,000      25,000      25,000      25,000      25,000      25,000      

     This project funds any activities that reduce infiltration of groundwater or inflow 

of stormwater into the sewer system such as: TV inspections, smoke testing, flow 

monitoring, and then Repair Work such as: pipe rehabilitation, sealing, requiring 

private line replacement, manhole repair and sewer line replacement. 

     The City needs to reduce the infiltration and inflow as good stewardship and 

maintenance of the existing sewer system.  The City also desires to preserve and 

recapture capacity in the wastewater system by reducing and controlling the peak 

flows.  The City will continue to monitor the expense and effectiveness of this 

program.  

                   Sewer Department

                       Infiltration and Inflow Reduction Program

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

39



S3
     C A P I T A L  P R O J E C T  S U M M A R Y

13.11

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
 Total  $ 

2017 - 2022 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Prelim Engineering & Legal 30,000         30,000      -            

Design Engineering 50,000         50,000      

Construction Costs 235,000       235,000    

Management / Administration 15,000         5,000        10,000      
-               

TOTAL COSTS 330,000            35,000     295,000                -                  -                  -                  -   

REQUESTED FUNDING -               

Public Works Trust Fund Loan 330,000             35,000 295,000    

TOTAL SOURCES 330,000      35,000      295,000    -            -            -            -            

PWTF Loan Repay

Sewer Fund 69,270         13,854      13,854      13,854      13,854      13,854      

Total Debt under Timeframe 69,270         13,854      13,854      13,854      13,854      13,854      

295,000

     Acquire City easement through the trailer park.  Rehabilitate or reconstruct the 

existing sewer main to provide reliable public sewer service to the customers in the 

north east portion of the City.

     This project is necessary to reduce infiltration and Inflow and to eliminate the 

maintenance problems caused by the settled sections of sewer main. 

     Portions of the existing sewer main will have to reconstructed other section might 

be just repaired.  The budget has been increased to reflect the cost of reconstructing 

portion of the sewer.  A 20 year Public Works Trust Fund Loan will generate a debt 

payment of $13,853.83 per year at 1%.

         Sewer Department

           Cedarbrook Sewer Main

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

40



S4
   Sewer Department

13.13

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
 Total    $ 

2017 - 2022 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Study and interlocal coord 10,000        10,000       

Engineering and Environmental 20,000        20,000         

Property Purchase

Construction Costs 330,000      330,000      

TOTAL COSTS 360,000      -             -             10,000       350,000      -             -             

REQUESTED FUNDING

Sewer Funds 12,000        2,000         10,000         

Water Department 12,000        2,000         10,000         

Parks & Cemetery 12,000        -             2,000         10,000         

Street Department 12,000        2,000         10,000         

Stormwater Department 12,000        2,000         10,000         

Grant 300,000      300,000      

TOTAL SOURCES 360,000      -             -             10,000       350,000      -             -             

                Sewer Department

               Materials Handling Facility
     Construct a Materials Handling site for composting soil and organic material for re-use, 

storage of street waste for disposal, storage of woody debris and dewater vactor material.  

The site will need sanitary sewer connection, a shed to keep contaminated materials out 

of the rain.

     When the City sells the sewer lagoon back to Palmer Coking Coal as per the purchase 

and sale agreement, the City will need to either lease the site for a while longer but will 

need to look for a better long term solution for this need.  

     Two other options are:  1) a joint facility with Covington, Maple Valley, King County and 

perhaps, WSDOT ,  2) designing, permitting and constructing a facility between the gym 

and the public works buildings. 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

41



S5

13.12

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
 Total $ 

2017 - 2022 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Preliminary Engineeering 20,000        20,000     

Design Engineering 40,000        40,000     

Construction Costs 380,000      380,000   

Management / Administration 20,000        20,000     

TOTAL COSTS 460,000                    -         20,000     440,000 
-              

REQUESTED FUNDING -              

Sewer Reserve 20,000        20,000     

PWTF Loan 440,000      440,000   

TOTAL SOURCES 460,000                    -                 -   -           -           20,000     440,000   

PWTF Loan Repay

Begins in 2023 -              

                 Sewer Department
                   Morganville Force Main Reroute

       Reroute the flows from the Morgan Street Sewer pump station from pumping 

to the Jones Lake Pump Station to pump to the new King County western storage 

facility. The new force main will be about 3500 feet from Morgan Street west 

along Roberts Drive and northwest along Lake Sawyer Road East.

       This project was programmed to provide capacity for infill in the old part of 

Black Diamond and save energy from pumping sewage twice. The need has 

diminished because of King County approval of a regional discharge location in 

the western part of Black Diamond, additional capacity from obstruction removal 

on our main trunk line and with the verification excellent pipe condition and 

capacity of our main trunk line.  The prioirty of this porject will also be affected, if 

Infiltration and Inflow can be reduced further.   

       A Public Works Trust Fund Loan of 20 years generates a debt payment of 

$24,382.74 per year at 1%.  This project is shifted to later years because of the 

lower priority as described above.

Project Location 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

42



S6
   Sewer Department

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
 Total  $ 

2017 - 2022 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Contribution to Equipment Fund 282,000     47,000     47,000     47,000     47,000     47,000     47,000     

TOTAL COSTS 282,000     47,000     47,000     47,000     47,000     47,000     47,000     
96,018     96,019     

REQUESTED FUNDING -              

Water Department 60,000       10,000     10,000     10,000     10,000     10,000     10,000     

Sewer Department 60,000       10,000     10,000     10,000     10,000     10,000     10,000     

Stormwater Department 60,000       10,000     10,000     10,000     10,000     10,000     10,000     

Street Department 60,000       10,000     10,000     10,000     10,000     10,000     10,000     

Parks/ Cemetery 42,000       7,000        7,000        7,000        7,000        7,000        7,000        
-              

TOTAL SOURCES 282,000     47,000     143,018   143,019   47,000     47,000     47,000     

Public Works Equipment Replacement Plan 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

15,000       

10,000       

12,000       

40,000       

20,000       

50,000       

5,000         

130,000     

40,000       

25,000$       77,000$       130,000$     40,000$       50,000$       -$              

0 0 0 0 0

14,018

2005 White Chevy 4X4 Replace

Totals

Replace John Deere Riding Mower

Back Hoe Tune Up

Replace Ferris zero turn Mower

1/2 Ton Utility Truck 4X4

Sewer Jet Rodder major maintenance

1998 White Ford PU Truck Replace

Cemetery Casket Lowering Device & Carport

Mini Track Hoe

     The current funding level which has been in place for about 10 years appears to 

be enough to meet the current needs of the department.  No adjustment are 

currently being recommended.

                      Sewer Department

                       Equipment Replacement Program
     Replace and purchase new equipment as needed for the City Public Works 

needs, with regular, fairly distributed, expenses to the various departments. 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

43



Summary by Project

Project Title
 Total    $ 

2017 - 2022 
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

D1 Lawson Hills Storm Pond Sediment Removal 10,000        10,000     -             -           -           -           -           

D2 Replace Covington Creek Culverts 637,000      22,000     615,000     -           -           -           -           

D3 N. Commercial St 169 Stormwater Improvements 910,000      25,000     885,000     -           -           -           -           

D4 Ginder Creek Headwall 90,000        -           -             40,000     50,000     -           -           

D5 Lawson Hills Stormwater Pond Improvement 140,000      -           -             -           -           -           140,000   

D6 Replace Diamond Glen Storm Pond 80,000        -           -             -           -           -           80,000     

1,867,000  57,000     1,500,000 40,000     50,000     -           220,000   

Funding Sources
Grants -              

D2 Replace Covington Creek Culverts 637,000      22,000     615,000     -           -           -           -           

D3 N. Commercial St 169 Stormwater Improvements 850,000      -           850,000     -           -           -           -           

D4 Ginder Creek Headwall 45,000        -           -             20,000     25,000     -           -           

Total Grants 1,532,000  22,000     1,465,000 20,000     25,000     -           -           

Stormwater Funding

D1 Lawson Hills Storm Pond Sediment Removal 10,000        10,000     -             -           -           -           -           

D5 Lawson Hills Stormwater Pond Improvement 140,000      -           -             -           -           -           140,000   

Total Stormwater Funding 150,000      10,000     -             -           -           -           140,000   

Sale of Land (Stormwater Funds)

D6 Replace Diamond Glen Storm Pond 80,000        -           -             -           -           -           80,000     

Total Sale of Land 80,000        -           -             -           -           -           80,000     

Real Estate Excise Tax 2

D3 N. Commercial St 169 Stormwater Improvements 60,000        25,000     35,000       -           -           -           -           

Total REET 2 Funding 60,000        25,000     35,000       -           -           -           -           

Grant Matching

D4 Ginder Creek Headwall 45,000        -           -             20,000     25,000     -           -           

Total Grant Matching 45,000        -           -             20,000     25,000     -           -           

1,867,000  57,000     1,500,000 40,000     50,000     -           220,000   

  Stormwater Department

   C A P I T A L   P R O J E C T   F U N D I N G   S U M M A R Y

TOTAL ESTIMATED EXPENDITURES

TOTAL ESTIMATED FUNDING SOURCES 

Capital Plan 2017 - 2022

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

44



D1

15.01

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Construction 10,000        10,000      

TOTAL COSTS 10,000        10,000     -            -            -            -            -            

REQUESTED FUNDING -               

Stormwater Funds 10,000        10,000      

TOTAL SOURCES 10,000        10,000     -            -            -            -            -            

     Reduce the scope of this project from constructing a maintenance access road to 

bringing in special equipment to remove the sediment and re-establish the 

treatment flow regime. 

     In preliminary design and project planning, the City considered the cost and 

benefit of constructing a maintenance access as compared to bringing in an 

excavator to remove the sediment from the bottom of the pond and re-establishing 

the effectiveness of the storm pond.  Given that the frequency of removing sediment 

is expected to be on the order of 20 years, this simplified approach is more cost 

effective. 

              Stormwater Department

              Lawson Hills Estates Storm Pond

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

45



D2

13.14

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Design Engineering 12,000       12,000       

Construction 545,000     545,000     

Management / Administration 80,000       10,000       70,000       

TOTAL COSTS 637,000     22,000       615,000     -             -             -             -             

REQUESTED FUNDING

Grant Funding 637,000 22,000       615,000     

TOTAL SOURCES 637,000     22,000       615,000     -             -             -             -             

                  Stormwater Department

                  Replace Covington Creek Culverts 
     Replace the three 5 foot diameter culverts with an open bottom concrete box culvert.     

     The summer 2012 inspections found  the culverts are nearing the end of their useful 

life and have serious corrosion and  pitting in the lower third of the culverts and a few 

areas where corrosion has opened holes in the culvert. The three culverts divide the 

small summer flow leaving only a small amount of water for fish passage.    

     Grant Funding has been obtained from the King County Flood Control District for the 

design phase.  The City will continue to seek grant funding for the construction and 

completion of the project. 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

46



D3

13.15

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Final Engineering Prepare Bid Docs 20,000         20,000      

Construction 850,000       850,000    

Management / Administration 40,000         5,000        35,000      

TOTAL COSTS 910,000       25,000      885,000   -            -            -            -            

REQUESTED FUNDING

Opportunity funds BD set aside 60,000 25,000      35,000      

 Grant Funding 850,000 850,000    

TOTAL SOURCES 910,000       25,000      885,000   -            -            -            -            

                  Stormwater Department

                North Commercial and SR 169 Stormwater Treatment Pond

     Collect storm water runoff from the main commercial area in north Black Diamond 

and from State Route 169 and route to city property north of the library. Construct a 

wet pond or vault for pre-treatment followed by constructed wetlands to dispersion 

trenches for discharge to upland above Ginder Creek. 

     Whereas there is a total maximum daily load (TMDL) on Lake Sawyer for 

phosphorous, the city should look for opportunities to reduce phosphorous inputs 

from existing untreated stormwater discharges.  Stormwater outfall discharges from 

the commercial area and the state route appear to have the highest pollutant 

loadings as compared to other City stormwater outfalls. 

     The City obtained a grant from the Department of Ecology for the design of this 

project.  With a completed design at 90%, the City will have a well defined project 

and will use the detailed information to improve grant applications. 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

47



D4

14.16

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Preliminary Engineer/Permitting 25,000        25,000      

Design Engineering 10,000        10,000      

Construction 45,000        45,000      

Management / Administration 10,000        5,000         5,000         

TOTAL COSTS 90,000        -             -             40,000      50,000      -             -             

REQUESTED FUNDING -              

Grant 45,000        20,000      25,000      

Grant Matching 45,000        20,000      25,000      

TOTAL SOURCES 90,000        -             -             40,000      50,000      -             -             

     Reconstruct an 80 foot section of the Ginder Creek Headwall along the north side of 

Roberts Drive

     The base of the existing concrete headwall was not constructed deep enough so 

that high flows in Ginder Creek have undermined the headwall destabilizing the wall.  

The headwall has been slowly tilting into the Creek.  Staff has braced the headwall as 

an interim step to hold the wall in position. 

     This project is needed to protect the roadway and prevent the erosion that would 

occur if the headwall tipped over.  A significant amount of the cost of this project will 

be related to environmental permitting. This project may get rolled into a larger street 

reconstruction project if street grants are obtained for this road segment. 

                 Stormwater Department

                Ginder Creek Headwall

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

48



D5

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

In House Design/ Mgmt 15,000          15,000    

Construction 120,000        120,000  

Management / Administration 5,000            5,000      

TOTAL COSTS 140,000       -           -           -           -           -           140,000  

REQUESTED FUNDING -                

Stormwater Funds 140,000        140,000  

TOTAL SOURCES 140,000       -           -           -           -           -           140,000  

     The original intent of these storm ponds was to provide joint use for 

homeowner association provided recreation facilities and City provided 

stormwater detention and treatment facilities.  The configuration hasn't worked 

very well for stormwater or for recreation.  The City would like to work with the 

Homeowners association to put the stormwater facilities underground so that 

the surface of the lots will be well drained and available for year around 

recreation and open space for the neighborhood. 

     This project would make the stormwater system and the surface park easier 

to maintain for both agencies. 

     Reconstruct the two stormwater ponds in Lawson Hills estates to eliminate 

the conflicts of stormwater treatment and detention from the recreational use.  

                Stormwater Department

                 Lawson Hills Stormwater Ponds

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

49



D6

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Pay for offsite pond capacity 15,000        15,000      
Design and Bid 10,000        10,000      

Construction 20,000        20,000      

Management / Administration 5,000          5,000        
Return funds to Operations 30,000        30,000      
TOTAL COSTS 80,000       -            -            -            -            -            80,000     

REQUESTED FUNDING -              

Sale of Lot 80,000        80,000      

TOTAL SOURCES 80,000       -            -            -            -            -            80,000     

     Many small stormwater facilities increase the City maintenance costs.   Providing 

a commensurate amount of storage and treatment in the larger regional stormwater 

pond to the west would allow the land to be reclaimed for a residential lot, improve 

the neighborhood and lower maintenance costs.   

     Legal and planning issues must be addressed before the City property can be 

sold. 

     If the new regional stormwater facility is constructed for the North Villages 

Commercial area, divert stormwater from the Diamond Glen local stormwater pond 

to the regional stormwater facility.

                   Stormwater Department

                     Replace Diamond Glen Storm Pond

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

50



REET 2 - REVENUE 
Total  $ 
Project      

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Beg Fund Balance 321 180,741 131,000 48,034 34,334 51,709 142,584 331,147
REET Revenue (annual)

1/4 of 1% REET - Existing Property 631,138 71,775 87,300 103,125 115,500 123,438 130,000
1/4 of 1% REET - Other new homes 570,000 41,250 67,500 93,750 144,375 148,125 75,000

Subtotal REET 2 Revenue 1,201,138 113,025 154,800 196,875 259,875 271,563 205,000

TOTAL Avail. Balance for Public Works Projects 1,381,879 244,025 202,834 231,209 311,584 414,147 536,147

REET 2 - PROJECT EXPENDITURES

Street Projects
T1 General Street Improvement 180,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000
T2 Roberts Drive Road Improvements 25,991 25,991
T5 224th Guardrail at Covington Creek 25,000 25,000
T6 224th Ave SE Asphalt Overlay 45,000 45,000
T8 Roberts Drive Rehabilitation Phase 2 25,500 25,500
T9 232nd Ave Chip Seal 10,000 10,000
T10 Downtown Public Parking 37,000 25,000 12,000
T11 216th Ave SE Overlay 27,000 27,000
T13 Lawson Street Phase 1 16,500 16,500
T14 Grant Matching 240,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000
T16 Pedestrian and Bicycle Study 3,000 3,000
Water
W5 Asbestos Water Main Replacement Prgm 59,000 5,000 3,000 9,000 42,000
Sewer
S1 Upgrade Utility Staff Facilities 5,000 5,000
S4 Material Handling Facility - Street 12,000 2,000 10,000
S6 Equipment Replacement - Street 60,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000
Stormwater
D3 N. Commercial St 169 Stormwater Improvements 60,000 25,000 35,000
D4 Fire Flow Loop - North Commercial Area 45,000 20,000 25,000
Total REET 2 Projects 875,991 195,991 168,500 179,500 169,000 83,000 80,000

REET 2 left for next year (Ending Balance) 505,888 48,034 34,334 51,709 142,584 331,147 456,147

REET based on Houses sold 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Existing Property Sales (in 000's) 87 @$330 97 @$360 110 @$375 120 @$385 125 @$395 130 @$400

Other new home sales (in 000's) 50 @$330 75 @$360 100 @$375 150 @$385 150 @$395 75 @$400

2020 2021

REET 2 ANALYSIS SUMMARY (Fund 320) 
Capital Improvement Plan 2017 - 2022

Capital Improvement Plan 2017 - 2022

Capital Improvement Plan 2017 - 2022

2022
Total  $ 
Project      

2017 2018 2019

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

51



Funds
Total  $ Project      

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Street Projects 32,419,108        7,528,108       3,851,000        3,810,000        6,660,000        9,100,000         1,470,000 

Water Projects 5,958,000           530,000       2,514,000           371,000           623,000           870,000         1,050,000 

Sewer Projects 1,635,000           160,000           367,000             82,000           422,000              92,000             512,000 

Stormwater Projects 1,867,000              57,000       1,500,000             40,000              50,000                       -               220,000 

TOTAL Projected Expenditures 41,879,108$   $8,275,108 $8,232,000 $4,303,000 $7,755,000 $10,062,000 $3,252,000

Public Works Fund Summary
Capital Improvement Plan 2017 - 2022

Street Projects, 
$32,419,108 , 77.4% 

Water Projects, 
$5,958,000 , 14.2% 

Sewer Projects, 
$1,635,000 , 3.9% 

Stormwater Projects, 
$1,867,000 , 4.5% 

Street Projects 
$32,419,108  

77.4% 

Water Projects 
$5,958,000  

14.2% 

Sewer Projects 
$1,635,000  

3.9% 

Stormwater Projects 
$1,867,000  

4.5% 

Public Works CIP by Fund 
Total: $41,879,108 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

52



REQUESTED FUNDING                     
Total  $ 
Project      

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Various Grants 13,953,867 1,446,867 1,664,500 1,701,500 4,064,000 4,027,000 1,050,000
Developer/Impact Fees/SEPA 24,584,250 6,417,250 6,022,000 2,080,000 3,335,000 5,330,000 1,400,000
Loans 1,287,000 35,000 315,000 272,000 15,000 210,000 440,000
Sewer Reserves 280,000 73,000 35,000 37,000 45,000 55,000 35,000
Real Estate Excise Tax 1 54,000 7,000 7,000 9,000 17,000 7,000 7,000
Real Estate Excise Tax 2 875,991 195,991 168,500 179,500 169,000 83,000 80,000
Water Rates and Reserves 537,000 75,000 10,000 12,000 90,000 340,000 10,000
Stormwater Reserves 307,000 25,000 10,000 12,000 20,000 10,000 230,000
TOTAL SOURCES $41,879,108 $8,275,108 $8,232,000 $4,303,000 $7,755,000 $10,062,000 $3,252,000

               Public Works CIP by Type of Funding Total:   $41,879,108

CIP Public Works Revenue Summary 
Capital Improvement Plan 2017 - 2022

Various Grants  
$13,953,867 

33.3% 

Developer/Impact 
Fees/SEPA 

$24,584,250 
58.7% 

Loans, $1,287,000, 
3.1% 

Sewer Reserves, 
$280,000, 0.7% 

Real Estate Excise Tax1, 
$54,000, 0.1% 

Real Estate Excise Tax2, 
$875,991, 2.1% 

Water Rates and 
Reserves, $537,000, 

1.3% 

Stormwater Reserves, 
$307,000, 0.7% 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

53



Summary by Project

Total $   
2017 - 2022

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

P1 Ginder Creek Trail and Site # # # # # # 445,000      -          62,000    -          45,000    338,000 -          

P2 Grant Matching Funds 25,000        2,500      2,500      5,000      5,000      5,000      5,000      

P3 Park Plan Update 80,000        -          40,000    40,000    -          -          -          
P4 Pond to Parks Improvement 11,000        -          -          -          11,000    -          -          
P5 Boat Launch Park Shoreline Stabilization 300,000      -          -          -          30,000    -          270,000 
P6 New Cemetery Niche Wall 20,000        -          20,000    -          -          -          -          
P7 Rehabilitate E. Ginder Creek Property 55,000        35,000    -          -          -          -          20,000    

936,000      37,500   124,500 45,000   91,000   343,000 295,000 
Funding Sources
King County Parks Property Tax Levy Funds -          
P1 Ginder Creek Trail and Site 201,000      -          32,000    -          -          169,000 -          

201,000      -          32,000   -          -          169,000 -          
King County Conservation District Grant 
P1 Ginder Creek Trail and Site 214,000      -          -          -          45,000    169,000 -          
P3 Park Plan Update 40,000        -          20,000    20,000    -          -          -          
P4 Pond to Parks Improvement 11,000        -          -          -          11,000    -          -          

265,000      -          20,000   20,000   56,000   169,000 -          
-               

P5 Boat Launch Park Shoreline Stabilization 150,000      -          -          -          -          -          150,000 
150,000      -          -          -          -          -          150,000 

Conservation Futures
P1 Ginder Creek Trail and Site 30,000        -          30,000    -          -          -          -          

Total Conservation Futures 30,000        -          30,000   -          -          -          -          

P2 Grant Matching Funds 25,000        2,500      2,500      5,000      5,000      5,000      5,000      
P3 Park Plan Update 40,000        -          20,000    20,000    -          -          -          
P5 Boat Launch Park Shoreline Stabilization 150,000      -          -          -          30,000    -          120,000 
P6 New Cemetery Niche Wall 20,000        -          20,000    -          -          -          -          
P7 Rehabilitate E. Ginder Creek Property 40,000        20,000    -          -          -          -          20,000    

Total REET 1 Funding 275,000      22,500   42,500   25,000   35,000   5,000      145,000 
Sewer Funds
P7 Rehabilitate E. Ginder Creek Property 10,000        10,000    -          -          -          -          -          

Total Sewer Fund Funding 10,000        10,000   
Street Funds
P7 Rehabilitate E. Ginder Creek Property 5,000          5,000      -          -          -          -          -          

Total Street Fund Funding 5,000          5,000      
936,000      37,500   124,500 45,000   91,000   343,000 295,000 

Project Title

            Capital Plan 2017 - 2022

Total RCO Grants

WA Recreation and Conservation Grants

Parks Department
C A P I T A L  P R O J E C T  S U M M A R Y

TOTAL ESTIMATED FUNDING SOURCES

Real Estate Excise Tax 1

Total KCD Grant

Total King County Parks Levy Fund

TOTAL ESTIMATED COST

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

54



P1

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Property Acquisition 60,000        60,000       

Design and Permitting 40,000        40,000       

Construction Costs 310,000      310,000     

Project Mgmt & Construction Inspect.
30,000        1,000         4,000         25,000       

Project Administration 5,000          1,000         1,000         3,000         
TOTAL COSTS 445,000      -             62,000       45,000       338,000     -             

REQUESTED FUNDING

King County Tax Levy Funds 201,000      32,000       169,000     

Rec Conserv. Office Grant  (RCO) 214,000      45,000       169,000     

Conservation Futures 30,000        30,000       
TOTAL SOURCES 445,000      62,000       45,000       338,000     

Design and Construct a 1540 foot long 10 feet wide multi purpose trail and a small 
parking lot on Roberts Drive.  

The City acquired the Ginder Creek parcel as a component to the Open Space Agreement 
signed in 2005.  Initial planning efforts, work with the City Council, as well as public input 
has steered the Parks Department towards trail development along the Ginder Creek 
corridor.  This area has historically been used for agricultural activities, but has since 
remained fallow, with the proliferation of invasive Reed Canary Grass, Evergreen 
Blackberry, and Scotch Broom.  This trail will provide a north/south link from Roberts 
Drive to Morgan Street and provide the public the enjoyment of the natural area along 
Ginder Creek.

         Parks Department

                                     Ginder Creek Trail and Site Restoration

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

55



P2

DESCRIPTION

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

COMMENTS

Transfer Reserves 25,000        2,500         2,500         5,000         5,000         5,000         5,000        

TOTAL COSTS 25,000        2,500         2,500         5,000         5,000         5,000         5,000        

REQUESTED FUNDING

Real Estate Excise Tax 1 25,000        2,500         2,500         5,000         5,000         5,000         5,000        
TOTAL SOURCES 25,000        2,500         2,500         5,000         5,000         5,000         5,000        

       Grant Matching Funds

           Parks Department

Funds earmarked for matching grant resources to be utilized in the design and 
construction of Parks and Natural Resource projects.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

56



P3

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $    

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Consulting Services 40,000        20,000      20,000      

City In-house Services 40,000        20,000      20,000      
TOTAL COSTS -              

80,000        -            40,000     40,000     -            -            -            

REQUESTED FUNDING
Real Estate Excise Tax 1 40,000        20,000      20,000      

Recreation Conser. Office Grant (RCO) 40,000        20,000      20,000      
TOTAL SOURCES 80,000        -            40,000     40,000     -            -            -            

        Parks Department

           Park Plan Update
The City's Park Plan has expired.  An update of the City's Comprehensive Parks, 
Recreation and Open Space Plan is needed for state grant eligibility towards trails, 
open space and park's infrastructure.

The last Parks Plan was developed by staff in late 2008.  The  Recreation and 
Conservation Office  approved the plan and the City used the Parks Plan to support 
several grant applications and improvements throughout the City.  Once the staffing 
level improves this Parks Planning update can be kicked off.  It is expected that the 
City will need consultant assistance for about 50% of the park planning effort. 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

57



P4

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $    

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

In house Planning & Design 3,000           3,000       
Construction Costs 8,000           8,000       

TOTAL COSTS 11,000         -           -           -           11,000     -           -           

REQUESTED FUNDING

Stormwater Grant or Other 11,000         11,000     

TOTAL SOURCES 11,000         -           -           -           11,000     -           -           

Entrance to the Eagle Creek Pond

Convert the stormwater retention pond at the Eagle Creek Sub-Division to a 
stormwater / Park multi-purpose facility.  Add a layer of permeable top soil that 
will not exceed the design infiltration rate of the storm water retention pond and 
seed to grass.  The area and slopes will be seeded to a nice lawn and the fence 
removed on the south end of the project. 
After the construction of this facility, engineering staff observed that surface water 
infiltration rates far exceeded the delivery volumes associated with surface run-off 
generated within the sub-division.  Because of this, the pond is dry throughout the 
year and can provide an excellent grass lawn open space feature to users of the 
City parks facility.  The conversion of a gravel storm infiltration pond to a 
stormwater/park multi-purpose facility will imporove storm water treatment, 
aesthetics, and provide additional park area for citizens.

          Parks Department

            Pond to Park Improvement - Eagle Creek

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

58



P5

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $    

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Engineering and Permitting 30,000        30,000      

Construction 260,000      260,000     

Project Administation/Mgmt 10,000        10,000       
TOTAL COSTS 300,000     -            -            -            30,000      -            270,000     

REQUESTED FUNDING

Real Estate Excise Tax 1 150,000      30,000      120,000     
RCO Grant 150,000      150,000     

TOTAL SOURCES 300,000     -            -            -            30,000      -            270,000     

                                        Exposed Roots

                                      Boat Launch Park Shoreline Stabilization

         Parks Department

Rotten Wall

Shoreline Erosion

Using boulder and plantings reinforce the shoreline to stop the bank erosion and 
protect the old growth trees along the shoreline.

The City many years ago stabilized the bank with wood retaining walls, rebar and 
logs.  The logs bounced along the shore and only partially protected the bank.  The 
logs were a maintenance problem and periodically broke loose causing a hazard on 
the lake.  The wood retaining wall has deteriorated significantly.  The rebar has been 
an ongoing maintenance problem and hazard.

Once the Park Plan has been accepted by the Recreation Conservation Office this 
project will be eligible for state grant funding.

          Leaning Tree

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

59



P6

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS

Total $    

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Niche Wall Purchase 10,000          10,000    
Niche Wall Installation 10,000          10,000    

TOTAL COSTS 20,000          -           20,000    -           -           -           

REQUESTED FUNDING

Real Estate Excise Tax 1 20,000          20,000    

TOTAL SOURCES 20,000          -           20,000    -           -           -           

           New Niche Wall

               Cemetery 

Install a niche wall for cremation remains in the cemetery 5 ft. high by about 24 

feet long. 

The existing niche wall is nearly all sold out.  Many people do not want to 

purchase an entire plot within the cemetery and the niche would serve their 

needs.  The niche wall preserves space within the cemetery.  The price of the 

niches could be reassessed after the final expense of the project is known so 

that the City could recover their costs.  The price of a niche right now is $350 

and the price of a plot is $1500.  The new wall would provide about 90 to 100 

new niches.  

The cemetery board reviewed and approved this project  and recommended 

that the Council add this project to the City's Capital Improvement Plan

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

60



P7

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $    

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Tree Felling and Decking 30,000        30,000      
Initial Weed Control 5,000           5,000        
Grading & Tree Planting 20,000        20,000      

TOTAL COSTS 55,000        35,000      -            -            -            -            20,000      

REQUESTED FUNDING
Sewer Funding 10,000        10,000      
Street Funds 5,000           5,000        

Real Estate Excise Tax 1 40,000        20,000      20,000      
TOTAL SOURCES 55,000        35,000      -            20,000      

                                     Rehabilitate East Ginder Creek Property 

          Parks Department

Remove cottonwood, maple, alder, blackberry, Nott weed, English Ivy along the east 
boundary of the property and revegetate with grass and Flowering cherry trees, 
maple, and dogwood.  The initial effort will be to fall the trees, and deck the debris in 
a long pile to compost onsite nand to spray  invasive weeds and then seed the 
surrounding area back to grass.  The trees should compost nicely within about 5 
years.  Once the limbs and tree trunks have decomposed, the organic matter will be 
spread and the area reseeded to lawn and trees planted. 
A major portion on the east side of the property has been overtaken by invasive 
weeds and invasive hazardous trees.  The cottonwood trees have grown to a 
hazardous size and present a threat and hazard to the homes and backyards to the 
east as citizens walking on City open space. 

This project is to fulfill the City's role in good stewardship of the public land.  

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

61



Expenditures

Project Title
Total  $ 

2017-2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

F1 Replace Primary Fire Engine 98 365,000       -              365,000     -              -               -              -                

F2 Replace Reserve Engine 600,000       -              -              -              600,000      -              -                

F3 Replace Aid Car 225,000       -              -              -              225,000      -              -                

F4 New Fire Station & Equipment 3,215,000   -              -              -              -               125,000     3,090,000    

4,405,000   365,000     825,000      125,000     3,090,000    

Funding Sources

Loans to Finance Projects

F1 Replace Primary Fire Engine 98 265,000       -              265,000     -              -               -              -                

Total Loans 265,000       -              265,000     -              -               -              -                

Funding From Growth or Bond Sales

F2 Replace Reserve Engine 600,000       -              -              -              600,000      -              -                

F3 Replace Aid Car 225,000       -              -              -              225,000      -              -                

F4 New Fire Station and Equipment 3,215,000   -              -              -              -               125,000     3,090,000    

Total from Growth or Bond Sales 4,040,000   -              -              -              825,000      125,000     3,090,000    

Funding From Surplus Sales

F1 Replace Primary Fire Engine 98 100,000       -              100,000     -              -               -              -                

Total Surplus Sales 100,000       -              100,000     -              -               -              -                

4,405,000   -              365,000     -              825,000      125,000     3,090,000    

State Loan Repayment - Debt Service

REET 1

F1 Replace Primary Fire Engine 98 (5%) 137,276       -              -              34,319       34,319        34,319       34,319          

Total R1 Debt Service Payments 137,276       -              -              34,319       34,319        34,319       34,319         

                       Capital Plan 2017 - 2022

TOTAL ESTIMATED FUNDING SOURCES

TOTAL ESTIMATED COSTS

 Fire Department
C A P I T A L  P R O J E C T  S U M M A R Y

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

62



                 Fire Department F1

    Replace Primary Fire Engine (2000)

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total  $ 

2017-2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Replace 2000 Primary Fire Engine 365,000     365,000      

TOTAL COSTS 365,000     -              365,000     -              -              -              -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Loan Plan 265,000     265,000      

Surplus Equipment Sale 100,000     100,000      

TOTAL SOURCES 965,000     -              365,000     -              -              -              -              

DEBT SERVICE
                 -   

REET 1 Debt Repay (10yr @5%) 137,276     34,319        34,319        34,319        34,319        

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE 137,276     -              -              34,319        34,319        34,319        34,319        

Fire Engine 98

This project replaces the newest engine in the fleet with a suitable, demo pumper having 

better long-term maintenance prospects.

The present vehicle experienced a major mechanical malfunction during 2010 annual 

service testing. Repairs cost over $21,000 and required more than four months to 

complete. Only one service center bid on the overhaul because of difficulties obtaining 

replacement parts.

The Fire Maintenance Supervisor recommends replacing the current pumper now with a 3 

to 4 year old used one, to offset the higher cost of replacement. A State sponsored loan is 

one means of funding this project. Cost projections below are based on 5% interest rate 

over a 10 year term. 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

63



F2

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total  $ 

2017-2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Replace 1986 Reserve Engine 600,000     600,000      

TOTAL COSTS 600,000     -              -              -              600,000     -              -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Growth or Bond Sales 600,000     600,000      -              

TOTAL SOURCES 600,000     -              -              -              600,000     -              -              

    Engine #981

               Fire Department

     Replace Reserve Engine (1986)

Replace reserve engine # 981 and extend the service life of front-line engine.

Engine 981 is a Pierce brand engine custom built for Kent Fire in 1986. The City later 

purchased this engine used. It has more than 155,000 miles on the odometer and 12,000 

hours in use.

Replacement of the Fire Engine and Station will require growth from REET 1 or bond sales 

revenue.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

64



F3

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND                                

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total  $ 

2017-2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Replace 1994 Aid Car 225,000     225,000  

TOTAL COSTS 225,000     -           225,000  
-                                                               -              

REQUESTED FUNDING

Funding From Growth or Bond Sales 225,000     225,000  

TOTAL SOURCES 225,000     -           -           -           225,000  -           -           

      Fire Department

   Replace Aid Car (1994)

Replace Aid 98 to provide reliable patient transport capability.

Aid 98 is a 1994 Ford purchased by City surplus from King County Medic One.  

This vehicle shows over 143,160 miles.  This is the only aid car owned by the City 

and maintenance costs are expected to increase with age in continued front-line 

use.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

65



  F4

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total  $ 

2017-2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Preliminary Engineering 75,000        75,000        

Construction Engineering 70,000        70,000        

Design Engineering 120,000      50,000        70,000        

Construction Costs (bldg) 2,950,000  2,950,000  

TOTAL COSTS 3,215,000  125,000     3,090,000  

REQUESTED FUNDING

Growth or Bond Sales 3,215,000  125,000      3,090,000  

TOTAL SOURCES 3,215,000  125,000     3,090,000  

Financing for this project may be a 20 year bond issue at 5% interest.  Payments of the debt 

if growth related, will be 83.73% developer responsibility of approximately $213,190 (from 

fire impact fees), and the City portion at 16.27% of the total, with payments of $41,426.  

This is per the Fire District Impact Fee Study, (IFS p.17).  The City share of payments will 

need to come from REET 1, or from bond issue.  

                         New Fire Station and Equipment 

   Fire Department

New Fire 

Station 96

Service needs within the community will change with growth. This project seeks to 

determine the optimal location, build approximately 8,000 square feet of fire station at 

$405 per square foot within the next six year at a cost of approximately $3,240,000.  

Additional growth related equipment of a Fire Pumper, Aid Car, Brush Truck, & Support 

Vehicle will be needed in later years after more growth has occured.  Land costs are not 

included and could add approximately $750,000 if the station is not built on existing City 

property.

Provide a satellite fire station sited and equipped to enhance fire and emergency medical 

service delivery in the community. This initiative begins with a site location study, proceeds 

to construct the station, and ends with a complement of essential equipment in service at 

the new facility.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

66



Total  $ 
Requested 
2017-2022

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

L1 Police Technology          140,000 15,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       

L2 Patrol Car Replacement          320,000 160,000     -              120,000     -              -              40,000       

L3 Police Radio Equipment            18,640 9,320         9,320         

         478,640 184,320 34,320 145,000 25,000 25,000 65,000

L1* Real Estate Excise Tax 1          180,000 15,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       65,000       
L2 Loan from Sewer Capital          280,000 160,000     -              120,000     -              -              -              

L3 Beginning Fund Balance            18,640 9,320         9,320         -              -              -              -              

         478,640 184,320     34,320       145,000     25,000       25,000       65,000       

* Loan Repay - Patrol Cars - REET 1          235,267 32,480       32,480       56,769       56,769       56,769       

TOTAL FUNDING FOR POLICE PROJECTS          713,907 184,320     66,800       177,480     81,769       81,769       121,769     

* Total REET 1          415,267 15,000 57,480 57,480 81,769 81,769 121,769

Capital Plan 2017 - 2022

  Police Department
C A P I T A L  P R O J E C T  S U M M A R Y

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS

Expenditures

TOTAL ESTIMATED COSTS

 TOTAL ESTIMATED FUNDING SOURCES

Funding Sources

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

67



L1

              Police Technology
DESCRIPTION

COMMENTS

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $  

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Laptops, PC's - Replacements 60,300        8,300         8,200         9,000         8,200         12,900       13,700       

PC Software 10,050        1,500         1,650         1,650         1,650         1,750         1,850         

Networking Hardware & Software 69,650        5,200         15,150       14,350       15,150       10,350       9,450         

TOTAL COSTS 140,000 15,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       

REQUESTED FUNDING

Real Estate Excise Tax 1 140,000 15,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       

TOTAL SOURCES 140,000      15,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       25,000       

                Police Department

Variety of technology for Police including PC purchases, network upgrades for hard and 
software, printers and copiers.  

Laptops for all officers.  General technology needs in years after.  

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

68



Technology Police
Yr 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Total Workstations 12 13 13 14 14 14 15 16

(rugged laptops) 8 9 9 10 10 10 11 12

Phone Sys

System

PCs

Purchase $1,250 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

  Replacement $800 $0 $800 $800 $800 $800 $0 $1 $2

Rugged Laptops $4,650 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $4,650 $4,650

  Replacement $4,100 $0 $6,560 $7,380 $7,380 $8,200 $8,200 $8,200 $9,020

  PC Software

Software Purchase $75 $450 $488 $488 $525 $525 $525 $563 $600

MS Office $250 $3,250

Software Upgrades $250 $250 $250 $250 $250 $250 $250 $250 $250

Anti-virus/SPAM $50 $660 $715 $715 $770 $770 $770 $825 $880

Network

Server purchases $5,000 $5,000 $4,000 $4,000 $2,000 $1,000

Server Upgrades $4,000 $5,000 $5,000 $4,000 $3,000 $3,000

NW/Security Devices $2,500 $2,500 $1,500 $2,500 $2,000 $2,500 $2,500 $2,500

 Network Software

Operating Systems $1,500 $1,500 $1,500 $1,000 $1,500 $2,500 $1,000 $1,000

Backup/WWW/other $400 $400 $400 $400 $400 $400 $400 $400 $400

Other purchases

Video/Audio $200 $200 $200 $200 $200 $200 $200 $200 $200

Mobile Devices $800 $1,600 $1,600 $1,600 $1,600 $1,600 $1,600 $1,600 $1,600

CIP 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Totals $5,060 $16,763 $14,833 $25,425 $25,245 $24,945 $25,189 $25,102

Rounding $5,000 $17,000 $15,000 $25,000 $25,000 $25,000 $25,000 $25,000

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

69



             Police Department L2

     Patrol Car Replacement Plan
DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $    

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Capital Outlay 320,000       160,000    120,000    40,000      

TOTAL COSTS 320,000       160,000    -            120,000    -            -            40,000      

REQUESTED FUNDING

REET 1 40,000          40,000      
Internal  Loan Program 280,000       160,000    120,000    
TOTAL SOURCES 320,000       160,000    -            120,000    -            -            40,000      

Internal Loan Program

At  1/2%  for 5 years (REET1) 235,267       32,480 32,480 56,769 56,769 56,769

The City has created and maintained a vehicle replacement plan with planned 
expenditures for patrol cars in an effort to replace aging patrol cars before becoming 
too expensive to maintain and to assure officer safety.
This rotation plan will allow the force to spend more time on the street and less time 
delivering them for repairs and maintenance.  This plan will allow for replacement 
roughly every 110,000 miles.  

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

70



Vehicle # YEAR MODEL
Years 

in 
Service

Yearly 
Mileage 

Est
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

31 2012 K-9 Tahoe Chev Tahoe 4 13,200 67,718 80,918 94,118 Replace 13,200 26,400 39,600
22 2007 Black Dodge Charger 9 10,650 124,436 Replace 13,200 26,400 39,600 52,800 66,000
23 2007 Black Dodge Charger 9 6,500 100,000 110,000 120,000 Replace 10,000 20,000 30,000
27 2009 Blk/White Dodge Charger 7 12,750 120,633 Replace 13,200 26,400 39,600 52,800 66,000
28 2009 Blk/White Dodge Charger 7 16,700 115,902 Replace 13,200 26,400 39,600 52,800 66,000
25 2008 Gray  Chev. Impala 8 19,000 45,500 53,000 60,500 68,000 75,500 83,000 Replace
26 2008 B/W Chev. Impala 8 15,000 85,058 Replace 13,200 26,400 39,600 52,800 66,000
29 2011 B/W Chev Tahoe 5 15,000 87,572 100,772 113,972 Replace 13,200 26,400 39,600

Pool Cars
24 2008 Dodge Charger 6 4,000 70,798 74,798 78,798 82,798 86,798 90,798 94,798
21 2006 B/W Ford Crown 10 5,000 69,804 74,804 79,804 84,804 89,804 94,804 99,804

Officers              13,200 
Sergeants              13,200 
Commander              10,000 
Chief                7,500 

Budgeted Miles

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

71



L3

DESCRIPTION

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $ 

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Portable Radio-Replacements 18,640 9,320        9,320        
0

TOTAL COSTS 18,640 9,320        9,320        -            -            -            -            

Total Units Replaced 4 2                2

REQUESTED FUNDING 0
0

Beginning Fund Balance 18,640 9,320        9,320        

TOTAL SOURCES 18,640 9,320 9,320 0 0 0 0

     Police Radio Replacement

                   Police Department

Portable Radio Replacements to replace 20 year old radios with the 750 MegaHertz 
update requirement.  King County voters passed a radio replacement levy that may 
not be ready until 2019.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

72



Summary by Project

Project Title
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

G1 City Technology Upgrades 160,000 35,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 

G2 General Facility Improvements 55,000 5,000 5,000 30,000 5,000 5,000 5,000

G3 Replace Pool, Facilities & Code Truck 74,000 20,000 25,000 29,000

G4 Comprehensive Plan Update 35,000 35,000 

G5 Gym / Wayfinding Signs 17,000 17,000 

TOTAL ESTIMATED COSTS 341,000 92,000    50,000    80,000    30,000    59,000    30,000    

Funding Sources

G1 City Technology Upgrades 160,000 35,000    25,000    25,000    25,000    25,000    25,000    

G2 General Facility Improvements 55,000 5,000      5,000      30,000    5,000      5,000      5,000      

G3 Replace Pool, Facilities & Code Truck 64,000 -           20,000    15,000    -           29,000    -           

G4 Comprehensive Plan Update 35,000 35,000    -           -           -           -           -           

G5 Gym / Wayfinding Signs 11,000 11,000    

Total REET 1 325,000 86,000    50,000    70,000    30,000    59,000    30,000    

Grant Funding

G5 Gym / Wayfinding Signs 6,000 6,000      

Total Grants 6,000 6,000      

Allocation from Utilities

G3 Replace Pool, Facilities & Code Truck 10,000 -           -           10,000    -           -           -           

Total Allocation from Utilities 10,000 -           -           10,000    -           -           -           

341,000 92,000 50,000 80,000 30,000 59,000 30,000TOTAL ESTIMATED FUNDING SOURCES

Real Estate Excise Tax 1

C A P I T A L  P R O J E C T  S U M M A R Y
General Government Projects

                  Capital Plan 2017 - 2022

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

73



G1

DESCRIPTION

BACKGROUND

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

PC, Printers, Software 68,600 11,700 10,300 11,400 11,100 11,300 12,800

Network Hardware, Software, Audio 

& Recovery
75,700 15,100 14,700 6,100 13,900 13,700 12,200

New Phone System 15,700 8,200 7,500

TOTAL COSTS 160,000 35,000       25,000        25,000        25,000        25,000        25,000        

REQUESTED FUNDING

Real Estate Excise Tax 1 160,000 35,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

TOTAL SOURCES 160,000 35,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

   City Technology - Capital (excludes Police Tech)

             General Government

     Variety of technology upgrades to the City including PC purchases, software purchases, 

network upgrades hard and software and printers. (see next page) These City upgrades 

exclude Police, as that department has a separate technology project list.

     This project is for PC replacements and other capital technology for the City.  This includes 

servers, network and network software,  disaster software and other technology.  Auburn IT 

will be updating amounts in next month or two.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

74



Technology City
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Total Workstations 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25

p/user

Expenditures

Phone System $8,200

PCs

Purchase $1,250 $2,715 $957 $0 $0 $1,250 $1,250 $2,500 $2,500

  Replacement $800 $1,600 $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $5,000 $3,500 $3,000

Printers/Mice/Access $100 $625 $1,000 $625 $625 $625 $625 $625 $625

Mobile Devices $400 $1,500 $1,500 $1,500 $1,500 $1,500 $1,500

  PC Software

Software Purchase $150 $938 $938 $938 $938 $938 $938 $938 $938

MS Office $250 $3,500 $3,500 $3,500 $3,500 $3,500 $3,500

Software Upgrades $100 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000

Anti-virus/SPAM $50 $1,250 $1,250 $1,250 $1,250 $1,250 $1,250 $1,250

Network

Server purchases $5,000 $5,190 $7,000 $5,000 $4,000 $4,000 $2,000 $3,000

Server Upgrades $4,000 $321 $750 $1,000 $2,000 $4,000 $4,000 $1,500

NW/Security Devices $2,500 $2,500 $1,500 $1,500 $2,500

 Network Software

Operating Systems $1,200 $1,200 $1,200 $2,200 $1,200 $1,000 $1,200 $2,200

Backup/WWW/other $800 $500 $500 $800 $800 $800 $800 $800 $800

Other purchases

Video/Audio $400 $200 $400 $400 $400 $400 $400 $400 $400

Disaster Recovery $1,500 $1,500

CIP 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Totals $10,028 $14,305 $34,663 $24,713 $24,963 $25,263 $24,713 $24,713

Rounded Total $10,000 $14,000 $35,000 $25,000 $25,000 $25,000 $25,000 $25,000

General Fund Operating Budget

PD Records Mgmt $12,662 $12,662 $12,662 $12,662 $12,662 $12,662 $12,662 $12,662 $12,662

Permit Trax $8,000 $8,000 $8,000 $8,000 $8,000 $8,000 $8,000 $8,000 $8,000

Vision Financial $6,300 $6,300 $6,300 $6,300 $6,300 $6,300 $6,300 $6,300 $6,300

Maint/Operating 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Rounded Total $27,000 $27,000 $27,000 $27,000 $27,000 $27,000 $27,000 $27,000

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

75



G2

                                     General Government Facility Upgrades

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Replace Police Roof 25,000       25,000   

General Upgrades 30,000       5,000       5,000      5,000      5,000      5,000      5,000      

TOTAL COSTS 55,000       5,000       5,000      30,000   5,000      5,000      5,000      

REQUESTED FUNDING -              
-              

Real Estate Excise Tax 1 55,000       5,000       5,000      30,000   5,000      5,000      5,000      
TOTAL SOURCES 55,000       5,000       5,000      30,000   5,000      5,000      5,000      

        General Government

    The Police Station is due for a new roof, and a contingency of $5,000 is for 

general upgrades to City Facilities.

DESCRIPTION

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

76



     General Government G3

                               General Government Vehicle Replacement

DESCRIPTION

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $ 2017 

-2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

2002 Facilities Truck Replace 25,000         25,000   

1998 City Hall Pool Car Replace 20,000         20,000   

2004 Com. Dev. Vehicle Replace 29,000         29,000   

TOTAL COSTS 74,000        -          20,000   25,000   -          29,000   -          

REQUESTED FUNDING -               
-               

PW Allocation 10,000         10,000   

Real Estate Excise Tax 1 64,000         20,000   15,000   29,000   

TOTAL SOURCES 74,000        -          20,000   25,000   -          29,000   -          

      The Facilities truck is a 2002 Chevy with 150,000 miles.  In the past three 

years, over $10,000 of repair work was done and the brakes currently need to 

be replaced.  The City Hall pool car is a 1998 Mercury Sable that is unreliable 

and employees are using their own cars rather than use it.  The Community 

Development vehicle is a 2004 Ford Expedition and will need to be replaced 

by at least 2021.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

77



    General Government G4

                                                Comprehensive Plan Completion

DESCRIPTION

     This 

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Comp Plan Update 35,000      35,000    
-             

TOTAL COSTS 35,000      35,000   -          -           -          -          -          

REQUESTED FUNDING -             -             

Real Estate Excise Tax 1 35,000      35,000    

TOTAL SOURCES 35,000      35,000   -          -           -          -          -          

     The City began and Comp Plan Update in 2014 as required by the Growth 

Management Act (GMA).  Subcontract work was done by BergerAban and 

they used DKS Associates as their consultant for the transportation element 

of the plan. DKS has already completed over 90% of the tasks in that scope 

of work.  The final 10% of that plan is approximately $35,000.  The 

Comprehensive Plan update is behind the GMA schedule for adoption which 

is causing the City to be ineligible for grant funds.  The plan needs to be 

completed to be in compliance with the Growth Management Act.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

78



    General Government G5

         Gym / Way Finding Signs

DESCRIPTION

     This 

CAPITAL PROJECT COSTS
Total $   

2017 -2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Gym Sign and Installation 5,000         5,000      

Wayfinding Signs and Installation 12,000      12,000    

TOTAL COSTS 17,000      17,000   -          -           -          -          -          

REQUESTED FUNDING
-             

Seattle Port Alliance Grant 6,000         6,000      

Real Estate Excise Tax 1 11,000      11,000    

TOTAL SOURCES 17,000      17,000   -          -           -          -          -          

     Signage is needed for the Gym, as well as for wayfinding in the City.

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

79



REET 1 - REVENUE 
Total  $ 
Project      

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Beginning Fund Balance 187,770 152,258 141,783 146,603 156,679 235,466 326,941
REET Revenue (annual)

1/4 of 1% REET - Existing Property 631,138 71,775 87,300 103,125 115,500 123,438 130,000
1/4 of 1% REET - Other new homes 570,000 41,250 67,500 93,750 144,375 148,125 75,000

Subtotal REET I Revenue 1,201,138 113,025 154,800 196,875 259,875 271,563 205,000

General Government 1,388,908 265,283 296,583 343,478 416,554 507,029 531,941

REET 1 - PROJECT EXPENDITURES

General Government
G1 160,000 35,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000
G2 General Facility Improvements 55,000 5,000 5,000 30,000 5,000 5,000 5,000
G3 Replace Gen. Govt Vehicles 64,000 20,000 15,000 29,000
G4 Comprehensive Plan Completion 35,000 35,000
G5 Gym / Wayfinding Signs 11,000 11,000

325,000 86,000         50,000         70,000         30,000         59,000         30,000         
Parks
P2 Grant Matching Funds 25,000 2,500 2,500 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000
P3 Park Plan Update 40,000 20,000 20,000
P5 Boat Launch Shoreline Restoration 150,000 30,000 120,000
P6 New Niche Wall 20,000 20,000
P7 Rehabilitate E. Ginder Creek Property 40,000 20,000 20,000

275,000 22,500 42,500 25,000 35,000 5,000 145,000
Public Safety
L1 Police Technology 140,000 15,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000
L2 Patrol Car Replacement Plan 40,000 40,000

Total Public Safety 180,000 15,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 65,000
Total REET 1 Projects 780,000 123,500 117,500 120,000 90,000 89,000 240,000
REET 1 Debt Repayment for Fire Vehicles 137,276 34,319 34,319 34,319 34,319
REET 1 Debt Repayment for Police Cars 235,267 32,480 32,480 56,769 56,769 56,769
TOTAL REET 1 1,015,267 123,500 149,980 186,799 181,088 180,088 331,088

REET 1 left for next year (Ending Balance) 373,641 141,783 146,603 156,679 235,466 326,941 200,853

REET based on Houses sold 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Existing Property Sales (in 000's) 87 @$330 97 @$360 110 @$375 120 @$385 125 @$395 130 @$400
Other new home sales (in 000's) 50 @$330 75 @$360 100 @$375 150 @$385 150 @$395 75 @$400

REET 1 ANALYSIS SUMMARY (Fund 310) 
Capital Improvement Plan 2017 - 2022

Total  $ 
Project      

2017 - 2022
2017

Capital Improvement Plan 2017 - 2022

Capital Improvement Plan 2017 - 2022

2018 2019 2020

City Technology Upgrades

    Subtotal General Government

    Subtotal Parks

2021 2022

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

80



Total  $ 
Project      

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Parks Department 936,000         37,500          124,500        45,000          91,000          343,000        295,000        

Fire Department 4,405,000      -                 365,000        -                 825,000        125,000        3,090,000     

Police Department 478,640         184,320        34,320          145,000        25,000          25,000          65,000          

General Government - Admin 341,000         92,000 50,000 80,000 30,000 59,000 30,000

TOTAL Projected Expenditures 6,160,640$    313,820$     573,820$     270,000$     971,000$     552,000$     3,480,000$  

REET 1 Payments
Total           

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Repay Police Car Loan 235,267 32,480 32,480 56,769 56,769 56,769
Repay Fire Engine 98 Loan 137,276 34,319 34,319 34,319 34,319
Total 372,543$       -$              32,480$        66,799$        91,088$        91,088$        91,088$        

General Government Departments Summary

Capital Improvement Plan 2017 - 2022

Total General Government CIP by Department 

General 
Government 

Admin 
 $341,000  

5.5% 

Police Department 
 $478,640  

7.8% 

Fire Department 
 $4,405,000  

71.5% 

Parks Department 
 $936,000  

15.2% 

$6,160,640 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

81



REQUESTED FUNDING                                               
Total  $ 
Project      

2017 - 2022

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

REET 1 Funding 780,000 123,500 117,500 120,000 90,000 89,000 240,000
Loans to Finance Projects 545,000 160,000 265,000 120,000
Funding from Growth or Bond Sales 4,040,000 825,000 125,000 3,090,000
County Tax Levy for Parks 201,000 32,000 169,000

King County Conservation Funding 265,000 20,000 20,000 56,000 169,000
Grants 156,000 6,000 150,000
Conservation Futures 30,000 30,000
Total Grant Funding 451,000 6,000 466,518 20,000 56,000 169,000 150,000

Surplus Sales 100,000 100,000
Allocation from Utilities 25,000 15,000 10,000
Project Fund Balance Funding 18,640 9,320 9,320
Total Surplus Sales, Allocation, and Fund Balance 143,640 24,320 109,320 10,000

TOTAL REQUESTED FUNDING SOURCES $6,160,640 $313,820 $990,338 $270,000 $971,000 $552,000 $3,480,000

$1,027,000

35,000 25,000
5,000 5,000

20,000
35,000

   General Government Departments Funding Summary 

Capital Improvement Plan 2017 - 2022

 General Government CIP by Type of Funding Total:   $6,160,640

, 0, 0.0% 

Loans to Finance 
Projects 
545,000  

8.8% 

REET 1 
 $780,000  

12.7% 

Grants 
 $451,000  

7.3% 

Growth or Bonds 
 $4,040,000  

65.6% 

Surplus Sales, 
Allocations and BFB 

 $143,640  
2.3% 

County Tax Levy 
 $201,000  

3.3% 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

82



CAPITAL PROJECTS

Departments
Total  $ Project      

2017 - 2022
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Street Department 32,419,108 7,528,108 3,851,000 3,810,000 6,660,000 9,100,000 1,470,000
Water Department 5,958,000 530,000 2,514,000 371,000 623,000 870,000 1,050,000
Sewer Department 1,635,000 160,000 367,000 82,000 422,000 92,000 512,000
Stormwater Department 1,867,000 57,000 1,500,000 40,000 50,000 220,000
Parks and Recreation 936,000 37,500 124,500 45,000 91,000 343,000 295,000
Police Department 478,640 184,320 34,320 145,000 25,000 25,000 65,000
Fire Department 4,405,000 365,000 825,000 125,000 3,090,000
City Administration 341,000 92,000 50,000 80,000 30,000 59,000 30,000

TOTAL Project COSTS $48,039,748 $8,588,928 $8,805,820 $4,573,000 $8,726,000 $10,614,000 $6,732,000

Total CIP:

Total Summary by Department 
Capital Improvement Plan 2017 - 2022

$48,039,748

Streets $32,419,108 
67.5% 

Parks $936,000 1.9% 

Water $5,958,000 12.4% 

Stormwater $1,867,000 
3.9% 

Police $478,640 1.0% 

Fire  $4,405,000 9.2% 

General Government 
$324,000  0.7% 

Sewer $1,635,000 3.4% 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

83



               

 

 

 

 

     DRAFT 

        CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND 

  
2016 Schedule  

2017 – 2022 Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) 

 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Process 

Internal Due 
Date 

Workstudy 
City Council 

Meetings 

1 CIP Planning Meeting  
 

Feb 23    

2 CIP Call letter & worksheet to affected 
departments (include goals, rules and 
timelines)  

March 1 
 

  

3 Departments Update detailed requests and 
submit to Finance and City Administration 

July 11 –  
July 29   

 
 
4 

Finance combines revenue and all 
Department requests for review by 
Administration. Administration Reviews 
with Finance and Departments to requested 
Projects. 

 
 

Aug 1 - 9 

  

 
5 

Finance, Public Works, Administration meet 
with Mayor to review PW projects & 
revenue 

 
Aug 10 

  

6 CIP Workstudy – Non Public Works  August 25  

7 CIP Workstudy –  Public Works  Sept 8  

8 Public Hearing for 2017 – 2022 CIP Aug 26 -   in 
newspaper 

 Sept 15 

9 Council adopts 2017 – 2022 CIP   Sept 15 or 
Oct 6 

City of Black Diamond CIP 2017 - 2022

84


































	AB16-059_Resolution Approving 2017-2022 Capital Improvement Plan.pdf
	2017 - 2022 CIP Street2
	2017 - 2022 CIP Water
	Summary
	W1 4.3 MG Tank Paint re 14.11
	W2 Springs&River Crossing 13.6
	W3 Water Comp Plan Update 14.12
	W4 Expand power generation 14.9
	W5 Morgansville N. Water Main
	W6 0.5 MG Tank Paint Ph. 2
	W7 Fire Flow Loop N Comm 13.8

	2017 - 2022 CIP Sewer
	2017 - 2022 CIP Stormwater
	Funding Summary
	D1 Lawson Hills Storm Pond
	D2 Lk Rd Culver & GdRail 13.14 
	D3 No Comm & 169 Storm Pond
	D4  Ginder Creek Headwall 14.16
	D5 Lawson Hills Ponds
	D6 Replace Diamond Glen Stmpond

	Rollups3
	Correct page street.pdf
	Summary

	Blank Page
	Final for Publishing GG.pdf
	General Government Cover
	2017 - 2022 CIP Parks
	Summary
	P1 Ginder Creek Trail and Site 
	P2 Grant Matching Funds
	P3 Park Plan Update
	P4 Pond to Park Improvement
	P5 Boat Launch Park Shoreline 
	P6 New Niche Wall
	P7 Ginder Creek Property Rehab

	2017 - 2022 CIP Fire Dept
	Summary
	F1 Replace Engine 98
	F2 Replace Reserve Engine
	F3 Replace Aid Car
	F4 Fire Station & Equipment

	2017 - 2022 CIP Police Mays version
	Summary
	L1 Police Capital
	New Tech Backup
	L2 Patrol Car Replacement Prog
	Replacement Schedule
	L3 Radio Replacement

	2017 - 2022 CIP General Government
	SUM
	1 City Technology
	new tech backup
	2 Reroof Police
	3 Admin Vehicles
	4 Comp Plan

	Summary file includes reet pages
	REET 1 Rollup
	Gen Govt Summary
	GG Funding by Project
	Gen Gov Funding
	Project Analysis GG

	CIP Calendar-Internal
	July 11 –  July 29
	Departments Update detailed requests and submit to Finance and City Administration
	3

	rollup gg.pdf
	GG Funding by Project

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	REET  1.pdf
	REET 1 Rollup


	Blank Page
	2017 - 2022 CIP Sewer.pdf
	Summary
	S1 Upgrade Utility Staff Fac.
	S2 I & I Reduction Program 13.1
	S3 Cedarbrook Sewer Main 13.11
	S4 Facilities and Equip 13.13
	S5 Morganville FM reroute 13.12
	S6 Equipment Replacement

	GG summary page.pdf
	Gen Gov Funding

	Red pie GG.pdf
	Gen Govt Summary

	R1 Sheet.pdf
	REET 1 Rollup

	REET 2.pdf
	REET 2 Rollup

	PW Pie 2.pdf
	Public Works

	PW pie 1.pdf
	PW Funding

	Total Summary Pie.pdf
	Total Summary

	ALL dept summary.pdf
	Sheet2

	Total Summary Pie.pdf
	Sheet2

	ALL dept summary 2.pdf
	Sheet2

	PW summary file.pdf
	Public Works

	GG Summary by funding.pdf
	Gen Gov Funding





